


SUPREME COURT OF THE UNITED STATES

No. 50.—October Term, 1953.

Victor Emanuel Pereira and 
Eugene H. Brading, Peti
tioners,

v.
United States of America.

On Writ of Certiorari to the 
United States Court of 
Appeals for the Fifth 
Circuit.

[February 1, 1954.]

Mr. Chief Justice Warren delivered the opinion of 
the Court.

The petitioners, Pereira and Brading, were convicted 
in the District Court for the Western District of Texas 
under three counts of an indictment charging violation 
of the mail fraud statute, 18 U. S. C. (Supp. V) 5 1341, 
violation of the National Stolen Property Act, 18 U. S. C. 
(Supp. V) § 2314, and a conspiracy to commit the afore
said substantive offenses, 18 U. S. C. (Supp. V) § 371. 
The Court of Appeals for the Fifth Circuit affirmed. 202 
F. 2d 830. This Court granted certiorari to consider ques
tions which are important to the proper administration of 
criminal justice in the federal courts. 345 U. S. 990.

On April 19, 1951, Mrs. Gertrude Joyce, a wealthy 
widow, fifty-six years old, and her younger half-Bister, 
Miss Katherine Joyner, were accosted by the petitioner 
Brading as they were about to enter a hotel in El Paso, 
Texas. Mrs. Joyce and her sister had just arrived from 
their home in Roswell, New Mexico, and were preparing 
to register at the hotel. Brading identified himself, as
sisted them in parking their car, and invited them into 
the hotel bar to meet a friend of his. They accepted. 
The friend was petitioner Pereira, thirty-three years of 
age. After a few drinks, the men suggested that they 
all go to Juarez for dinner. The women accepted, and
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after dinner visited some night clubs with the petitioners. 
Pereira devoted himself to Mrs. Joyce, telling her that 
their meeting was an “epoch” in his life. He mentioned 
that he was getting a divorce. This same performance 
was repeated the following night. When Pereira said that 
he would like to return to Roswell with the women, Mrs. 
Joyce invited the two men to be her house guests, and 
they accepted. Pereira commenced to make love to Mrs. 
Joyce, and she responded to his attentions. On May 3, 
Pereira exhibited a telegram to Mrs. Joyce, in the presence 
of Brading and Miss Joyner, stating that his divorce 
would be granted on May 27, but that he would not 
receive his share of the property settlement, some $48,000, 
for a month.

Brading represented himself as a prosperous oil man, 
dealing in leases, and Pereira as the owner and operator 
of several profitable hotels. Brading then told Mrs. 
Joyce that Pereira was about to lose an opportunity to 
share in the profits of some excellent oil leases because 
of the delay in the divorce property settlement, and 
persuaded her to lend Pereira $5,000.

Pereira suggested that he and Mrs. Joyce take a trip 
together to “become better acquainted.” He borrowed 
$1,000 from her to finance the trip. Brading joined them 
at Wichita Falls, and the three of them continued the 
trip together as far as Dallas. Pereira discussed his 
purported hotel business in Denver during this part of 
the trip. He stated that he was giving two hotels to his 
divorced wife, but intended to re-enter the hotel business 
in the fall. In the meantime, he was going to “play a 
little oil” with Brading. In Hot Springs, Arkansas, 
Pereira proposed marriage and was accepted. Brading 
reappeared on the scene, expressing great joy at the im
pending marriage. Pereira then told Brading, in the 
presence of Mrs. Joyce, that he would have to withdraw 
from further oil dealB and get a hotel to assure himself 
of a steady income.
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Pereira and Mrs. Joyce were married May 25, 1951, in 
Kansas City, Missouri. While there, Pereira persuaded 
Mrs. Joyce to procure funds to enable him to complete 
an arrangement to purchase a Cadillac through a friend. 
She secured a check for >6,956.55 from her Loe Angeles 
broker, and drawn on a California bank, which she en
dorsed over to Pereira. The price of the car was 14,750, 
and she instructed Pereira to return the balance of the 
proceeds of the check to her. He kept the change.

From that time on, Pereira and Brading, in the pres
ence of Mrs. Joyce, discussed a hotel which by words and 
conduct they represented that Pereira was to buy in 
Greenville, Texas. They took Mrs. Joyce—by this time 
Mrs. Pereira—to see it, and exhibited an option for its 
purchase for 178,000 through a supposed broker, “E. J. 
Wilson.” Pereira asked his then wife if she would join 
him in the hotel venture and advance >35,000 toward the 
purchase price of >78,000. She agreed. It was then 
agreed, between her and Pereira, that she would sell some 
securities that she possessed in Los Angeles, and bank 
the money in a bank of his choosing in El Paso. On 
June 15, she received the check for >35,000 on the Citizens 
National Bank of Los Angeles from her brokers in Los 
Angeles, and gave it to Pereira, who endorsed it for col
lection to the State National Bank of El Paso. The 
check cleared, and on June 18, a cashier’s check for 
>35,000 was drawn in favor of Pereira.

At five o’clock in the morning of June 19, Pereira 
and Brading, after telling their victim that they were 
driving the Cadillac to a neighboring town to sign some 
oil leases, left her at home in Roewell, New Mexico, prom
ising to return by noon. Instead Pereira picked up the 
check for >35,000 at the El Paso Bank, cashed it there, 
and with Brading left with the money and the Cadillac.

That was the last Mrs. Joyce saw of either petitioner, 
or of her money, until the trial some seven months later. 
She divorced Pereira on November 16, 1951.
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The record clearly shows that Brading was not an oil 
man; that Pereira was not a hotel owner; that there was 
no divorce or property settlement pending in Denver; 
that Pereira arranged to have the telegram concerning 
the divorce sent to him by a friend in Denver; that there 
were no oil leases; that the hotel deal was wholly ficti
tious; and that “E. J. Wilson” was the petitioner Brad
ing. The only true statements which the petitioners 
made concerned the purchase of the Cadillac, and they 
took that with them. Pereira and Brading contrived all 
of the papers used to lend an air of authenticity to their 
deals. In short, their activities followed the familiar 
pattern of the “confidence game.”

The petitioners challenge the admissibility of Mrs. 
Joyce’s testimony as being based on confidential com
munications between Mrs. Joyce and Pereira during the 
marriage. Petitioners do not now contend that Mrs. 
Joyce was not a competent witness against her ex- 
husband. They concede that the divorce removed any 
bar of incompetency. That is the generally accepted 
rule. Wigmore, Evidence, 9 2237; 58 Am. Jur., Wit
nesses, 9 204. Petitioners rely on the proposition that 
while divorce removes the bar of incompetency, it does 
not terminate the privilege for confidential marital com
munications. Wigmore, Evidence, 9 2341 (2); 58 Am. 
Jur., Witnesses, 9 379. This is a correct statement of the 
rule, but it is inapplicable to bar the communications in
volved in this case, since under the facts of the case, it can
not be said that these communications were confidential. 
Although marital communications are presumed to be con
fidential, that presumption may be overcome by proof 
of facts showing that they were not intended to be private. 
Blau v. United States, 340 U. S. 332; Wolfle v. United 
States, 291 U. S. 7. The presence of a third party nega
tives the presumption of privacy. Wigmore, Evidence, 

• 9 2336. So too, the intention that the information con-
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veyed be transmitted to a third person. Id., 5 2336. The 
privilege, generally, extends only to utterances, and not 
to acts. Id., 5 2337. A review of Mrs. Joyce’s testimony 
reveals that it involved primarily statements made in 
the presence of Brading or Miss Joyner, or both, acts of 
Pereira which did not amount to communications, trips 
taken with third parties, and her own acts. Much of her 
testimony related to matters occurring prior to the mar* 
riage. Any residuum which may have been intended to 
be confidential was so slight as to be immaterial. Cf. 
United States v. MitcheU, 137 F. 2d 1006, 1009.

The court below was not in error in admitting Mrs. 
Joyce’s testimony.

The petitioners challenge their conviction on the sub
stantive counts on the ground that there was no evidence 
of any mailing or of transporting stolen property 
interstate, the gist of the respective offenses. These 
contentions are without merit.

The mail fraud statute provides:
“5 1341. Frauds and swindles
“Whoever, having devised or intending to devise 

any scheme or artifice to defraud, or for obtaining 
money or property by means of false or fraudulent 
pretenses, representations, or promises, or to sell, 
dispose of, loan, exchange, alter, give away, dis
tribute, supply, or furnish or procure for unlawful 
use any counterfeit or spurious coin, obligation, se
curity, or other article, or anything represented to 
be or intimated or held out to be such counterfeit 
or Bpurious article, for the purpose of executing such 
scheme or artifice or attempting so to do, places in 
any post office or authorised depository for mail 
matter, any matter or thing whatever to be sent or 
delivered by the Post Office Department, or takes 
or receives therefrom, any such matter or thing, or 
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knowingly causes to be delivered by mail according 
to the direction thereon, or at the place at which 
it is directed to be delivered by the person to whom 
it is addressed, any such matter or thing, shall be 
fined not more than 91,000 or imprisoned not more 
than five years, or both.” 18 U. S. C. (Supp. V) 
§ 1341.

The National Stolen Property Act provides:
2314. Transportation of stolen goods, securi

ties, monies, or articles used in counterfeiting 
“Whoever transports in interstate or foreign com

merce any goods, wares, merchandise, securities or 
money, of the value of 95,000 or more, knowing the 
same to have been stolen, converted or taken by 
fraud ....

“Shall be fined not more than 310,000 or impris
oned not more than ten years, or both. . . .” 18 
U. S. C. (Supp. V) 8 2314.

To constitute a violation of these provisions, it is not 
necessary to show that petitioners actually mailed or 
transported anything themselves; it is sufficient if they 
caused it to be done. 18 U. S. C. (Supp. V) 8 2 (b).

Petitioners do not deny that the proof offered estab
lishes that they planned to defraud Mrs. Joyce. Collect
ing the proceeds of the check was an essential part of 
that scheme. For this purpose, Pereira delivered the 
check drawn on a Los Angeles bank to the El Paso bank. 
There was substantial evidence to show that the check 
was mailed from Texas to California, in the ordinary 
course of business.

The elements of the offense of mail fraud under 18 
U. S. C. (Supp. V) 8 1341 are (1) a scheme to defraud, 
and (2) the mailing of a letter, etc., for the purpose of 
executing the scheme. It is not necessary- that the 
scheme contemplate the use of the mails as an essential 
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element. United States v. Young, 232 U. S. 155. Here, 
the scheme to defraud is established, and the mailing of 
the check by the bank, incident to an essential part of 
the scheme, is established. There remains only the 
question whether Pereira “caused” the mailing. That 
question is easily answered. Where one does an act with 
knowledge that the UBe of the mails will follow in the 
ordinary course of business, or where such use can rea
sonably be foreseen, even though not actually intended, 
then he “causes” the mails to be UBed. United States v. 
Kenofskey, 243 U. S. 440. The conclusion that Pereira’s 
conviction under this count was proper follows naturally 
from these factors.

As to the charge of causing stolen property to be trans
ported in interstate commerce, the validity of Pereira’s 
conviction is even more apparent. Sections 1341 and 
2314 of Title 18 constitute two separate offenses, and a 
defendant may be convicted of both even though the 
charges arise from a single act or series of acts, so long as 
each requires the proof of a fact not essential to the other. 
Oavieres v. United States, 220 U. S. 338; Blockburger v. 
United States, 284 U. S. 299. 18 U. S. C. (Supp. V) 
§ 2314 requires (1) knowledge that certain property has 
been stolen or obtained by fraud, and (2) transporting it, 
or causing it to be transported in interstate commerce. 
It is obvious that the mail fraud offense requires different 
proof. The transporting charge does not require proof 
that any specific means of transporting were used, or that 
the acts were done pursuant to a scheme to defraud, as 
is required for the mail fraud charge. United States v. 
Sheridan, 329 U. S. 379. When Pereira delivered the 
check, drawn on an out-of-state bank, to the El Paso bank 
for collection, he "caused” it to be transported in inter
state commerce. It is common knowledge that such 
checks must be sent to the drawee bank for collection, 
and it follows that Pereira intended the El Paso bank to
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send this check across state lines. United States v. Sheri
dan, supra, at 391. The trial court charged the jury that 
one who “aids, abets, counsels, commands, induces, or 
procures” the commission of an act is aa responsible for 
that act aa if he had directly committed the act himself. 
See 18 U. S. C. (Supp. V) § 2 (a). Nye <t Nissen v. 
United States, 336 U. S. 613. The jury found Brading 
guilty in the light of this instruction. The Court of Ap
peals affirmed on the ground that the evidence supported 
conviction under this charge.*

The evidence is clear and convincing that Brading was 
a participant in the fraud from beginning to end. Brad
ing made the initial contact with the victim. He per
suaded her to part with 15,000, as a Ioan to Pereira for 
investment in some nonexistent oil leases. He was pres
ent and participated in conversations about buying the 
hotel lease. He engaged a telephone answering service 
under the name of “E. J. Wilson,” the name of Pereira’s 
purported broker. The evidence established that he sent 
a telegram to Pereira authorizing an extension of the sup
posed option to purchase the hotel, signing it “E. J. Wil
son.” He supplied the false excuse for Pereira’s depar
ture from the victim, and went with Pereira to collect 
the proceeds of the check. He and Pereira fled together 
with the money.

The "aiding and abetting” instruction entitled the jury 
to draw inferences supplying any lack of evidence directly

•The Government argues that Brading’8 conviction on the sub
stantive offenses can be affirmed on the basis of Pinkerton v. United 
States, 328 U. 3. 640, since the record demonstrates that he con
spired to defraud Mrs. Joyce and the acts charged in the substan
tive offenses were acts in furtherance of th^t design. The Pinkerton 
cose, however, is inapplicable here since the jury was not instructed 
in terms of that theory. Nye & Nissen v. United States, 336 U. 8. 
613. 
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connecting the petitioner Brading with the specific acts 
charged in the indictment from the abundant circum
stantial evidence offered. The jury was properly charged 
on this theory. There is ample evidence of the petition
ers’ collaboration and close cooperation in the fraud from 
which the jury could conclude that Brading aided, 
abetted, or counseled Pereira in the commission of the 
specific acts charged. See Nye A Nissen v. United States, 
supra, at 619. The Court of Appeals has passed on the 
sufficiency of the evidence to sustain Brading’8 convic
tion on this theory. We see no reason to upset the find
ings of the courts below.

The petitioners allege that their conviction on both 
the substantive counts and a conspiracy to commit the 
crimes charged in the substantive counts constitutes 
double jeopardy. It is settled law in this country that 
the commission of a substantive offense and a conspiracy 
to commit it are separate and distinct crimes, and a plea 
of double jeopardy is no defense to a conviction for both. 
See Pinkerton v. United States, 328 U. S. 640, 643-644, 
and cases cited therein. Only if the substantive offense 
and the conspiracy are identical does a conviction for 
both constitute double jeopardy. Cf. Oavieres v. United 
States, 220 U. S. 338. The substantive offenses with 
which petitioners were charged do not require more 
than one person for their commission; either could be 
accomplished by a single individual. The essence of the 
conspiracy charge is an agreement to use the mails to 

"defraud and/or to transport in interstate commerce prop
erty known to have been obtained by fraud. Pereira’s 
conviction on the substantive counts does not depend on 
any agreement, he being the principal actor. Similarly, 
Brading’s conviction does not turn on the agreement. 
Aiding, abetting, and counseling are not terms which pre
suppose the existence of an agreement. Those terms 
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have a broader application, making the defendant a prin
cipal when he consciously shares in a criminal act, re
gardless of the existence of a conspiracy. Nye & Nissen 
v. United States, supra, at 620. Thus, the charge of con
spiracy requires proof not essential to the convictions on 
the substantive offenses—proof of an agreement to com
mit an offense against the United States—and it cannot 
be said that the substantive offenses and the conspiracy 
are identical, any more than the two substantive offenses 
are identical.

Petitioners further contend that there was no evidence 
that they agreed to use the mails in furtherance of the 
scheme to defraud Mrs. Joyce or that they agreed to trans
port stolen property in interstate commerce. It is not 
necessary that an agreement to UBe the mails or transport 
stolen property exist from the inception of the scheme to 
defraud. If there was Buch an agreement at any time, 
it is sufficient. The existence of a conspiracy to defraud 
Mrs. Joyce is not denied. Pereira obtained a check from 
the victim for the purchase of an automobile. That check 
was drawn on a Los Angeles bank by Mrs. Joyce’s brokers. 
When the subject of purchasing the hotel was broached, 
Mrs. Joyce told Pereira that she would have to have her 
California broker sell Borne stocks to obtain the funds for 
the purchase. When there was a delay in contacting the 
broker, Brading, as "E. J. Wilson,” sent a telegram extend
ing the spurious option for the purchase of the hotel. 
There is no doubt about Pereira’s knowledge that a check 
on an out-of-state bank would be involved. From what 
we have said with regard to the substantive offenses, it 
is also clear that an intent to collect on the check would 
include an intent to use the mails or to transport the 
check in interstate commerce. It was certainly not im
proper to allow the jury to determine from the circum
stances whether Brading shared Pereira’s knowledge and 
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agreed with him as to the use of the only appropriate 
means of collecting the money. It would be unreason
able to suppose that Brading would be so closely associ
ated with Pereira in the scheme to defraud without know
ing the details related to the realization of their common 
goal. There is no reason for this Court to upset the jury’B 
finding of conspiracy.

For the foregoing reasons, the judgment below is
Affirmed.

Mr. Justice Reed took no part in the consideration or 
decision of this case.
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Mr. Justice Minton, with whom Mr. Justice Black 
and Mr. Justice Douglas join, concurring in part and 
dissenting in part.

That a monumental fraud was perpetrated by the pe
titioners on Mrs. Joyce in the true fashion of a confidence 
game cannot be disputed. Such fraud could be pun
ished by the States. For the United States to take cog
nizance of the offenses, the mailB had to be used to carry 
out the fraud or the check fraudulently obtained must 
have been carried across state lines. That is what the 
Government charged. Count one charged that they 
caused a letter to be mailed from El Paso, Texas, to Los 
Angeles, California, on June 15, 1951. Count ten 
charged that on or about the same date they caused the 
check, in the amount of 135,286.78, to be transported in 
interstate commerce from El Paso to Los Angeles, know
ing it was obtained by fraud. Count 11 charged a con
spiracy to commit the substantive offenses.

I would affirm the convictions except as to Brading 
on the substantive counts. To convict on the substantive 
counts, the petitioners must have actually used the mails 
to transport the check from El Paso to Los Angeles. The 
use may be proved by direct or circumstantial evidence, 
but it must be proved. Brading must have used, or must 
have known or from the facts and circumstances be rea-
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sonably expected to have known, that Pereira actually 
would use the mails. United States v. Peoni, 100 F. 2d, 
401, 402. To be guilty of the conspiracy, Brading had 
only to reasonably anticipate that Pereira might use the 
mails, and if he did subsequently use them, then Brading 
is bound.

The elements of the offense under the Mail Fraud 
statute are (1) a scheme to defraud which (2) reason
ably contemplates the use of the mails, and (3) use of 
the mails in furtherance of the plan. The National 
Stolen Property Act is violated if (1) one transports se
curities or money of the value of $5,000 or more in inter
state commerce and (2) does so knowing they have been 
taken by fraud.

Concededly, Brading did not participate directly in the 
use of the mails to transport the thirty-five thousand 
dollar check from El Paso to Los Angeles. He can be 
convicted, if at all, only as an aider and abettor. Nye <k 
Nissen v. United States, 336 U. S. 613, 618. There is 
no evidence to establish that he could reasonably have 
expected that the mails would be used in carrying out the 
scheme.

Three financial transactions are mentioned by the 
Court in its opinion. First, the $5,000 transaction. That 
all took place in Roswell, New Mexico, where Mrs. Joyce 
cashed a check on a Roswell bank and gave the proceeds 
to Pereira. No federal offense there. The Cadillac 
transaction was liquidated by a check received from Los 
Angeles by Mrs. Joyce and turned over to Pereira, who 
cashed it in Kansas City, Missouri. Brading was not 
Bhown to have known where this money came from, and, 
more important, it was not proved that that check was 
mailed, as was done in the case of the third check, for 
$35,286.78.

Mrs. Joyce arranged for this check, the only trans
action upon which the convictions are based, by selling 
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securities in Los Angeles. She received the check and 
turned it over to Pereira in Roswell, New Mexico, from 
whence he took it to El Paso, and there, on June 16, 
1951, after securing Mrs. Joyce’s endorsement, caused it 
to be sent through the mails for collection. The evi
dence does not show where Brading was at the time these 
events occurred. He next appeared at Mrs. Joyce's home 
in Roswell after the completion of the acts constituting 
the federal crimes, and on June 19,1951, left with Pereira, 
ostensibly to see about some oil leases in Texas. The 
same day Pereira collected the money at the El Paso 
bank. There iB no direct evidence that Brading actu
ally knew or had reason to believe that a check would 
be received or that the check would be drawn on an out- 
of-town bank, necessitating its being placed in the mails 
for collection.

Lacking such proof, an important element of each crime 
changed, namely, that Brading had reason to foresee the 
use of the mails or interstate commerce, haa not been 
established. It is true that the use of the mails need not 
have been originally intended as a part of the plan, but its 
use must have been a natural, reasonably foreseeable 
means of executing the plan. Brading might well have 
assumed that cash would be given to Pereira, or, if a 
check, one drawn on a local bank.

It may well be reasonable to infer that one receiving a 
check drawn on an out-of-town bank would know that 
it would be mailed in the process of collection, but to 
that inference must be added the inference that Brading 
had reason to know that a check would be received and 
also that the check would be on an out-of-town bank. 
This 1b piling inference upon inference, in the absence of 
direct proof. In short, this is simply guessing Brading 
into the federal penitentiary. It may be good guessing, 
but it is not proof.
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Brading is clearly an aider and abettor of the Bcheme 
to defraud, which a State may punish, but is he an aider 
and abettor of the federal offenses of using the mails to 
defraud and causing the fraudulent check to be carried 
across Btate lines? I think not, unless we are willing 
to say that aiding and abetting the scheme to defraud is 
aiding and abetting any means UBed for the consummation 
of the fraud. Brading muBt aid and abet the federal 
crimes, not just the fraudulent scheme. There is not a 
scintilla of evidence that Brading aided and abetted any
thing more than the scheme to get the money from Mrs. 
Joyce.

In Bottenbach v. United States, 326 U. S. 607, the de
fendant was charged with transporting securities in inter
state commerce knowing them to have been stolen, and 
with conspiracy to commit the offense. He was convicted 
of conspiracy. The court had instructed the jury that 
possession of the securities by the defendant in New York 
soon after their theft in Minnesota was sufficient to war
rant the jury in finding that the defendant knew the 
securities had been stolen, and this would support the 
further “presumption” that the defendant was the thief 
and transported the securities in interstate commerce. 
This Court set the conviction aside. The latter inference 
was said to be untenable.

In this case, I think it untenable to infer that Brading 
had reason to know that Pereira would get a foreign check 
that must be sent through the mails and in its handling 
must be carried across Btate lines, thereby making out the 
federal crimes. It is untenable because it is unreason
able to infer one or more facts from the inference of 
another fact. Looney v. Metropolitan R. Co., 200 U. S. 
480, 488; United States v. Ross, 92 U. S. 281.
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Mr. Justice Minton, concurring in part and dissent
ing in part.

That a monumental fraud was perpetrated by the pe
titioners on Mrs. Joyce in the true fashion of a confidence 
game cannot be disputed. Such fraud could be pun
ished by the states. For the United States to take cog
nizance of the offenses, the mails had to be used to carry 
out the fraud or the check fraudulently obtained must 
have been carried across state lines. That is what the 
Government charged. Count one charged that they 
caused a letter to be mailed from El Paso, Texas, to Los 
Angeles, California, on June 15, 1951. Count ten 
charged that on or about the same date they caused the 
check, in the amount of 835,286.78, to be transported in 
interstate commerce from El Paso to Los Angeles, know
ing it was obtained by fraud. Count 11 charged a con
spiracy to commit the substantive offenses.

I would affirm the convictions except as to Brading 
on the substantive counts. To convict on the substantive 
counts, the petitioners must have actually used the mails 
to transport the check from El Paso to Los Angeles. The 
use may be proved by direct or circumstantial evidence, 
but it must be proved. Brading must have used, or must 
have known or from the facts and circumstances be rea-



sonably expected to have known, that Pereira actually 
would use the mails. United States v. Peoni, 100 F. 2d, 
401, 402. To be guilty of the conspiracy, Brading had 
only to reasonably anticipate that Pereira might use the 
mails, and if he did subsequently use them, then Brading 
is bound.

The elements of the offense under the Mail Fraud 
statute are (1) a scheme to defraud which (2) reason
ably contemplates the use of the mails, and (3) use of 
the mails in furtherance of the plan. The National 
Stolen Property Act is violated if (1) one transports se
curities or money of the value of $5,000 or more in inter
state commerce and (2) does so knowing they have been 
taken by fraud.

Concededly, Brading did not participate directly in the 
use of the mails to transport the thirty-five thousand 
dollar check from El Paso to Los Angeles. He can be 
convicted, if at all, only as an aider and abettor. Nye & 
Nissen v. United States, 336 U. S. 613, 614. There is 
no evidence to establish that he could reasonably have 
expected that the mails would be used in carrying out the 
scheme.

Three financial transactions are mentioned by the 
Court in its opinion. First, the $5,000 transaction. That 
all took place in Roswell, New Mexico, where Mrs. Joyce 
cashed a check on a Roswell bank and gave the proceeds 
to Pereira. No federal offense there. The Cadillac 
transaction was liquidated by a check received from Los 
Angeles by Mrs. Joyce and turned over to Pereira, who 
cashed it in Kansas City, Missouri. Brading was not 
shown to have known where this money came from, and, 
more important, it was not proved that that check was 
mailed, as was done in the case of the third check, for 
$35,286.78.

Mrs. Joyce arranged for this check, the only trans
action upon which the convictions are based, by selling 
securities in Los Angeles. She received the check and
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turned it over to Pereira in Roswell, New Mexico, from 
whence he took it to El Paso, and there, on June 15, 
1951, after securing Mrs. Joyce’s endorsement, caused it 
to be sent through the mails for collection. The evi
dence does not show where Brading was at the time these 
events occurred. He next appeared at Mrs. Joyce’s home 
in Roswell after the completion of the acts constituting 
the federal crimes, and on June 19,1951, left with Pereira, 
ostensibly to see about some oil leases in Texas. The 
same day Pereira collected the money at the El Paso 
bank. There is no direct evidence that Brading actu
ally knew or had reason to believe that a check would 
be received or that the check w’ould be drawn on an out- 
of-town bank, necessitating its being placed in the mails 
for collection.

Lacking such proof, an important element of each crime 
charged, namely, that Brading had reason to foresee the 
use of the mails or interstate commerce, has not been 
established. It is true that the use of the mails need not

■

have been originally intended as a part of the plan, but its 
use must have been a natural, reasonably foreseeable 
means of executing the plan. Brading might well have 
assumed that cash would be given to Pereira, or, if a 
check, one drawn on adocal bank.

It may well be reasonable to infer that one receiving a 
check drawn on an out-of-town bank would know that 
it would be mailed in the process of collection, but to 
that inference must be added the inference that Brading 
had reason to know that a check would be received and 
also that the check would be on an out-of-town bank. 
This is piling inference upon inference, in the absence of 
direct proof. In short, this is simply guessing Brading 
into the federal penitentiary. It may be good guessing, 
but it is not proof.

Brading is clearly an aider and abettor of the scheme 
to defraud, which a state may punish, but is he an aider 
and abettor of the federal offenses of using the mails to
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defraud and causing the fraudulent check to be carried 
across state lines? I think not, unless we are willing 
to say that aiding and abetting the scheme to defraud is 
aiding and abetting any means used for the consummation 
of the fraud. Brading must aid and abet the federal 
crimes, not just the fraudulent scheme. There is not a 
scintilla of evidence that Brading aided and abetted any
thing more than the scheme to get the money from Mrs. 
Joyce.

In Bollenbach v. United States, 326 U. S. 607, the de
fendant was charged with transporting securities in inter
state commerce knowing them to have been stolen, and 
with conspiracy to commit the offense. He was convicted 
of conspiracy. The court had instructed the jury that 
possession of the securities by the defendant in New York 
soon after their theft in Minnesota was sufficient to war
rant the jury in finding that the defendant knew the 
securities had been stolen, and this would support the 
further “presumption” that the defendant was the thief 
and transported the securities in interstate commerce. 
This Court set the conviction aside. The latter inference 
was said to be untenable.

In this case, I think it untenable to infer that Brading 
had reason to know that Pereira would get a foreign check 
that must be sent through the mails and in its handling 
must be carried across state lines, thereby making out the 
federal crimes. It is untenable because it is unreason
able to infer one or more facts from the inference of 
another fact. Looney v. Metropolitan R. Co., 200 U. S. 
480, 488; United States v. Ross, 92 U. S. 281.
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transporting stolen property in interstate commerce, and of a conspiracy 

to commit those offenses.

The facts are long and involved. They are set forth in the opinion,

and it would serve no good purpose to state them in detail here. It is 

sufficient to say that the petitioners gons pi red to defraud a middle aged 

widow of her fortune and succeeded to tne extent of $47, 500.^The scheme 

the petitioners took the pattern of the so-called "confidence game", through 

which in a period of exactly two months they obtained from their victim

$ 1, 000 as a loan
$ 5, 000 on fictitious oil leases
$ 4, 750 for a Cadillac
$ 2, 000 which he kept as the change on 

$7,000
$35,000 for a non-existent hotel purchase.

In addition to this, Pereira married the victim, and immediately 

upon receiving the $35,000, along with Brading, fled with the money and 

the Cadillac.

Petitioners do not deny that they conspired to and actually did 

defraud their victim of these funds.

They contend, however -

(1) That proof of their use of the mails to defraud and of their 

transportation of stolen property in interstate commerce is insufficient 

to justify their conviction;

(2) That they cannot lawfully be convicted of violation of the sub-

.-Hr;
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stantive offenses, and also of a conspiracy, that it places them in double
J

jeopardy to do so;

(3) That the Court erred in permitting the victim in testifying against 

Pereira to relate conversations between them after the date of their marriage.
on

We believe the facts are ample to justify their convictiorVall three 

counts; that they conspired to defraud her of her money and that in the 

course of the conspiracy they caused her to sell her stocks in Los Angeles 

and tjxx to use the mails in the regular course of business to have the pro

ceeds of the sale transported to Texas ($35, 000) for petitioners.

We also believe that petitioners' claim of double jeopardy is un

founded. It is settled law in this country that the commission of a substantive 

offense and a conspiracy to commit it are separate and distinct offenses 

unless both are identical. Such is not the case here. Either could commit 

the substantive offense alone. It took two to commit conspiracy.

We also believe that the attempt of Pereira to hide behind the mar

riage relation and to claim as confidential communications his machinations 

with his co-conspirator Brading would be a mockery of the rule which accords 

to confidential communications between husband and wife a sanctity which even 

the law canno£penetrate.

The conversations admitted were all part and parcel of the fradulent 

scheme of the petitioners, conceived and partially executed before the 

marriage took place. Those taking place after the marriage were almost 
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entirely within the presence of Brading or others which takes them out 

of the rule.

The judgment is affirmed.
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SUPREME COURT OF THE UNITED STATES

No. 50.—October Term, 1953.

Victor Emanuel Pereira and 
Eugene H. Brading, Peti
tioners,

v.
United States of America.

[February

On Writ of Certiorari to the 
United States Court of 
Appeals for the Fifth 
Circuit.

1, 1954.]

Mr. Chief Justice Warrem delivered the opinion of 
the Court.

The petitioners, Pereira and Brading. were convicted 
in the District Court for the Western District of Texas 
under three counts of an indictment charging violation 
of the mail fraud statute, 18 U. S. C. (Supp. V) § 1341, 
violation of the National Stolen Property Act, 18 U. S. C. 
(Supp. V) § 2314, and a conspiracy to commit the afore
said substantive offenses, 18 U. S. C. (Supp. V) § 371. 
The Court of Appeals for the Fifth Circuit affirmed. 202 
F. 2d 830. This Court granted certiorari to consider ques
tions which are important to the proper administration of 
criminal justice in the federal courts. 345 U. S. 990.

On April 19, 1951, Mrs. Gertrude Joyce, a wealthy 
widow, fifty-six years old, and her younger half-sister, 
Miss Katherine Joyner, were accosted by the petitioner 
Brading as they were about to enter a hotel in El Paso, 
Texas. Mrs. Joyce and her sister had just arrived from 
their home in Roswell, New Mexico, and were preparing 
to register at the hotel. Brading identified himself, as
sisted them in parking their car, and invited them into 
the hotel bar to meet a friend of his. They accepted. 
The friend was petitioner Pereira, thirty-three years of 
age. After a few drinks, the men suggested that they 
all go to Juarez for dinner. The women accepted, and

Reproduced From the Collections of the Matmarrlnf
_

r iu_____ __ _____ ;
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after dinner visited some night clu*bs with the petitioners. 
Pereira devoted himself to Mrs. Joyce, telling her that 
their meeting was an “epoch” in his life. He mentioned 
that he was getting a divorce. This same performance 
was repeated the following night. When Pereira said that 
he would like to return to Roswell with the women, Mrs. 
Joyce invited the two men to be her house guests, and 
they accepted. Pereira commenced to make love to Mrs. 
Joyce, and she responded to his attentions. On May 3, 
Pereira exhibited a telegram to Mrs. Joyce, in the presence 
of Brading and Miss Joyner, stating that his divorce 
would be granted on May 27, but that he would not 
receive his share of the property settlement, some $48,000, 
for a month.

Brading represented himself as a prosperous oil man, 
dealing in leases, and Pereira as the owner and operator 
of several profitable hotels. Brading then told Mrs. 
Joyce that Pereira was about to lose an opportunity to 
share in the profits of some excellent oil leases because 
of the delay in the divorce property settlement, and 
persuaded her to lend Pereira $5,000.

Pereira suggested that he and Mrs. Joyce take a trip 
together to “become better acquainted.” He borrowed 
$1,000 from her to finance the trip. Brading joined them 
at Wichita Falls, and the three of them continued the 
trip together as far as Dallas. Pereira discussed his 
purported hotel business in Denver during this part of 
the trip. He stated that he was giving two hotels to his 
divorced wife, but intended to re-enter the hotel business 
in the fall. In the meantime, he was going to “play a 
little oil” with Brading. In Hot Springs, Arkansas. 
Pereira proposed marriage and was accepted. Brading 
reappeared on the scene, expressing great joy at the im
pending marriage. Pereira then told Brading, in the 
presence of Mrs. Joyce, that he would have to withdraw 
from further oil deals and get a hotel to assure himself 
of a steady income.
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Pereira and Mrs. Joyce were married May 25, 1951, in 
Kansas City, Missouri. While there, Pereira persuaded 
Mrs. Joyce to procure funds to enable him to complete 
an arrangement to purchase a Cadillac through a friend. 
She secured a check for $6,956.55 from her Los Angeles 
broker, and drawn on a California bank, which she en
dorsed over to Pereira. The price of the car was $4,750, 
and she instructed Pereira to return the balance of the 
proceeds of the check to her. He kept the change.

From that time on, Pereira and Brading, in the pres
ence of Mrs. Joyce, discussed a hotel which by words and 
conduct they represented that Pereira was to buy in 
Greenville, Texas. They took Mrs. Joyce—by this time 
Mrs. Pereira—to see it, and exhibited an option for its 
purchase for $78,000 through a supposed broker, “E. J. 
Wilson.” Pereira asked his then wife if she would join 
him in the hotel venture and advance $35,000 toward the 
purchase price of $7S,000. She agreed. It was then 
agreed, between her and Pereira, that she would sell some 
securities that she possessed in Los Angeles, and bank 
the money in a bank of his choosing in El Paso. On 
June 15, she received the check for $35,000 on the Citizens 
National Bank of Los Angeles from her brokers in Los 
Angeles, and gave it to Pereira, who endorsed it for col
lection to the State National Bank of El Paso. The 
check cleared, and on June 18, a cashier’s check for 
$35,000 was drawn in favor of Pereira.

At five o’clock in the morning of June 19, Pereira 
and Brading, after telling their victim that they were 
driving the Cadillac to a neighboring town to sign some 
oil leases, left her at home in Roswell, New Mexico, prom
ising to return by noon. Instead Pereira picked up the 
check for $35,000 at the El Paso Bank, cashed it there, 
and with Brading left with the money and the Cadillac.

That was the last Mrs. Joyce saw of either petitioner, 
or of her money, until the trial some seven months later. 
She divorced Pereira on November 16, 1951.
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The record clearly shows that Brading was not an oil 
man; that Pereira was not a hotel owner; that there was 
no divorce or property settlement pending in Denver; 
that Pereira arranged to have the telegram concerning 
the divorce sent to him by a friend in Denver; that there 
were no oil leases; that the hotel deal was wholly ficti
tious; and that “E. J. Wilson” was the petitioner Brad
ing. The only true statements which the petitioners 
made concerned the purchase of the Cadillac, and they 
took that with them. Pereira and Brading contrived all 
of the papers used to lend an air of authenticity to their 
deals. In short, their activities followed the familiar 
pattern of the “confidence game.”

The petitioners challenge the admissibility of Mrs. 
Joyce’s testimony as being based on confidential com
munications between Mrs. Joyce and Pereira during the 
marriage. Petitioners do not now contend that Mrs. 
Joyce was not a competent witness against her ex- 
husband. They concede that the divorce removed any 
bar of incompetency. That is the generally accepted 
rule.- Wigmore, Evidence, §2237; 58 Am. Jur., Wit
nesses, § 204. Petitioners rely on the proposition that 
while divorce removes the bar of incompetency, it does 
not terminate the privilege for confidential marital com
munications. Wigmore, Evidence, § 2341 (2); 5S Am. 
Jur., Witnesses. § 379. This is a correct statement of the 
rule, but it is inapplicable to bar the communications in
volved in this case, since under the facts of the case, it can
not be said that these communications were confidential. 
Although marital communications are presumed to be con
fidential, that presumption may be overcome by proof 
of facts showing that they were not intended to be private. 
Blau v. United States, 340 U. S. 332; Wolfle v. United 
States, 291 U. S. 7. The presence of a third party nega
tives the presumption of privacy. Wigmore, Evidence, 
§ 2336. So too. the intention that the information con-
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veyed be transmitted to a third person. Id., § 2330. The 
privilege, generally, extends only to utterances, and not 
to acts. Id., § 2337. A review of Mrs. Joyce’s testimony 
reveals that it involved primarily statements made in 
the presence of Brading or Miss Joyner, or both, acts of 
Pereira which did not amount to communications, trips 
taken with third parties, and her own acts. Much of her 
testimony related to matters occurring prior to the mar
riage. Any residuum which may have been intended to 
be confidential was so slight as to be immaterial. Of. 
United States v. Mitchell, 137 F. 2d 1006, 1009.

The court below was not in error in admitting Mrs. 
Joyce’s testimony.

The petitioners challenge their conviction on the sub
stantive counts on the ground that there was no evidence 
of any mailing or of transporting stolen property 
interstate, the gist of the respective offenses. These 
contentions are without merit.

The mail fraud statute provides:
“§ 1341. Frauds and swindles
“Whoever, having devised or intending to devise 

any scheme or artifice to defraud, or for obtaining 
money or property by means of false or fraudulent 
pretenses, representations, or promises, or to sell, 
dispose of, loan, exchange, alter, give away, dis
tribute, supply, or furnish or procure for unlawful 
use any counterfeit or spurious coin, obligation, se
curity, or other article, or anything represented to 
be or intimated or held out to be such counterfeit 
or spurious article, for the purpose of executing such 
scheme or artifice or attempting so to do, places in 
any post office or authorized depository for mail 
matter, any matter or thing whatever to be sent or 
delivered by the Post Office Department, or takes 
or receives therefrom, any such matter or thing, or
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knowingly causes to be delivered by mail according 
to the direction thereon, or at the place at which 
it is directed to be delivered by the person to whom 
it is addressed, any such matter or thing, shall be 
fined not more than $1,000 or imprisoned not more 
than five years, or both.” 18 U. S. C. (Supp. V) 
§ 1341.

The National Stolen Property Act provides:
“§ 2314. Transportation of stolen goods, securi

ties, monies, or articles used in counterfeiting
“Whoever transports in interstate or foreign com

merce any goods, wares, merchandise, securities or 
money, of the value of $5,000 or more, knowing the 
same to have been stolen, converted or taken by 
fraud ....

“Shall be fined not more than $10,000 or impris
oned not more than ten years, or both. ...” 18
U. S. C. (Supp. V) § 2314.

To constitute a violation of these provisions, it is not 
necessary to show that petitioners actually mailed or 
transported anything themselves; it is sufficient if they 
caused it to be done. 18 U. S. C. (Supp. V) § 2 (b)<

Petitioners do not deny that the proof offered estab
lishes that they planned to defraud Mrs. Joyce. Collect
ing the proceeds of the check was an essential part of 
that scheme. For this purpose, Pereira delivered the 
check drawn on a Los Angeles bank to the El Paso bank. 
There was substantial evidence to show that the check 
was mailed from Texas to California, in the ordinary 
course of business.

The elements of the offense of mail fraud under 18 
U. S. C. (Supp. V) § 1341 are (1) a scheme to defraud, 
and (2) the mailing of a letter, etc., for the purpose of 
executing the scheme. It is not necessary that the 
scheme contemplate the use of the mails as an essential
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element. United States v. Young, 232 U. S. 155. Here, 
the scheme to defraud is established, and the mailing of 
the check by the bank, incident to an essential part of 
the scheme, is established. There remains only the 
question whether Pereira “caused*’ the mailing. That 
question is easily answered. Where one does an act with 
knowledge that the use of the mails will follow in the 
ordinary course of business, or where such use can rea
sonably be foreseen, even though not actually intended, 
then he “causes” the mails to be used. United States v. 
Kenofskey, 243 U. S. 440. The conclusion that Pereira’s 
conviction under this count was proper follows naturally 
from these factors.

As to the charge of causing stolen property to be trans
ported in interstate commerce, the validity of Pereira’s 
conviction is even more apparent. Sections 1341 and 
2314 of Title 18 constitute two separate offenses, and a 
defendant may be convicted of both even though the 
charges arise from a single act or series of acts, so long as 
each requires the proof of a fact not essential to the other. 
Gavieres v. United States, 220 U. S. 338; Blockburger v. 
United States, 284 U. S. 299. 18 U. S. C. (Supp. V) 
§ 2314 requires (1) knowledge that certain property has 
been stolen or obtained by fraud, and (2) transporting it, 
or causing it to be transported in interstate commerce. 
It is obvious that the mail fraud offense requires different 
proof. The transporting charge docs not require proof 
that any specific means of transporting were used, or that 
the acts were done pursuant to a scheme to defraud, as 
is required for the mail fraud charge. United States v. 
Sheridan, 329 U. S. 379. When Pereira delivered the 
check, drawn on an out-of-state bank, to the El Paso bank 
for collection, he “caused” it to be transported in inter
state commerce. It is common knowledge that such 
checks must be sent to the drawee bank for collection, 
and it follows that Pereira intended the El Paso bank to
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send this check across state lines. United States v. Sheri- 
dan, supra, at 391. The trial court charged the jury that 
one who “aids, abets, counsels, commands, induces, or 
procures” the commission of an act is as responsible for 
that act as if he had directly committed the act himself. 
See 18 U. S. C. (Supp. V) §2 (a). Nye & Nissen v. 
United States, 336 U. S. 613. The jury found Brading 
guilty in the light of this instruction. The Court of Ap
peals affirmed on the ground that the evidence supported 
conviction under this charge.*

The evidence is clear and convincing that Brading was 
a participant in the fraud from beginning to end. Brad
ing made the initial contact with the victim. He per
suaded her to part with $5,000, as a loan to Pereira for 
investment in some nonexistent oil leases. He was pres
ent and participated in conversations about buying the 
hotel lease. He engaged a telephone answering service 
under the name of “E. J. Wilson,” the name of Pereira’s 
purported broker. The evidence established that he sent 
a telegram to Pereira authorizing an extension of the sup
posed option to purchase the hotel, signing it “E. J. Wil
son.” He supplied the false excuse for Pereira’s depar
ture from the victim, and went with Pereira to collect 
the proceeds of the check. He and Pereira fled together 
with the money.

The “aiding and abetting” instruction entitled the jury 
to draw inferences supplying any lack of evidence directly

•The Government argues that Brading’s conviction on the sub
stantive offenses can be affirmed on the basis of Pinkerton v. United 
States, 32S U. S. 640, since the record demonstrates that he con
spired to defraud Mrs. Joyce and the acts charged in the substan
tive offenses were acts in furtherance of that design. The Pinkerton 
case, however, is inapplicable here since the jury was not instructed 
in terms of that theory. A'ye Nissen v. United States, 336 U. S. 
613.



50

PEREIRA v. UNITED STATES. 9

connecting the petitioner Brading with the specific acts 
charged in the indictment from the abundant circum
stantial evidence offered. The jury was properly charged 
on this theory. There is ample evidence of the petition
ers’ collaboration and close cooperation in the fraud from 
which the jury could conclude that Brading aided, 
abetted, or counseled Pereira in the commission of the 
specific acts charged. See Nye & Nissen v. United States, 
supra, at 619. The Court of Appeals has passed on the 
sufficiency of the evidence to sustain Brading’s convic
tion on this theory. We see no reason to upset the find
ings of the courts below.

The petitioners allege that their conviction on both 
the substantive counts and a conspiracy to commit the 
crimes charged in the substantive counts constitutes 
double jeopardy. It is settled law in this country that 
the commission of a substantive offense and a conspiracy 
to commit it are separate and distinct crimes, and a plea 
of double jeopardy is no defense to a conviction for both. 
See Pinkerton v. United States, 328 U. S. 640, 643-644, 
and cases cited therein. Only if the substantive offense 
and the conspiracy are identical does a conviction for 
both constitute double jeopardy. Cf. Gavieres v. United 
States, 220 U. S. 338. The substantive offenses with 
which petitioners were charged do not require more 
than one person for their commission; either could be 
accomplished by a single individual. The essence of the 
conspiracy charge is an agreement to use the mails to 
defraud and/or to transport in interstate commerce prop
erty known to have been obtained by fraud. Pereira’s 
conviction on the substantive counts does not depend on 
any agreement, he being the principal actor. Similarly, 
Brading’s conviction does not turn on the agreement. 
Aiding, abetting, and counseling are not terms which pre
suppose the existence of an agreement. Those terms
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have a broader application, making the defendant a prin
cipal when he consciously shares in a criminal act, re
gardless of the existence of a conspiracy. Nye tfc Nissen 
v. United States, supra, at 620. Thus, the charge of con
spiracy requires proof not essential to the convictions on 
the substantive offenses—proof of an agreement to com
mit an offense against the United States—and it cannot 
be said that the substantive offenses and the conspiracy 
are identical, any more than the two substantive offenses 
are identical.

Petitioners further contend that there was no evidence 
that they agreed to use the mails in furtherance of the 
scheme to defraud Mrs. Joyce or that they agreed to trans
port stolen property in interstate commerce. It is not 
necessary that an agreement to use the mails or transport 
stolen property exist from the inception of the scheme to 
defraud. If there was such an agreement at any time, 
it is sufficient. The existence of a conspiracy to defraud 
Mrs. Joyce is not denied. Pereira obtained a check from 
the victim for the purchase of an automobile. That check 
was drawn on a Los Angeles bank by Mrs. Joyce’s brokers. 
When the subject of purchasing the hotel was broached, 
Mrs. Joyce told Pereira that she would have to have her 
California broker sell some stocks to obtain the funds for 
the purchase. When there was a delay in contacting the 
broker, Brading, as “E. J. Wilson,” sent a telegram extend
ing the spurious option for the purchase of the hotel. 
There is no doubt about Pereira’s knowledge that a check 
on an out-of-state bank would be involved. From what 
we have said with regard to the substantive offenses, it 
is also clear that an intent to collect on the check would 
include an intent to use the mails or to transport the 
check in interstate commerce. It was certainly not im
proper to allow the jury to determine from the circum
stances whether Brading shared Pereira’s knowledge anti
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agreed with him as to the use of the only appropriate 
means of collecting the money. It would be unreason
able to suppose that Brading would be so closely associ
ated with Pereira in the scheme to defraud without know
ing the details related to the realization of their common 
goal. There is no reason for this Court to upset the jury’s 
finding of conspiracy.

For the foregoing reasons, the judgment below is
Affirmed.

Mr. Justice Reed took no part in the consideration or 
decision of this case.
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The petitioners, Pereira and Brading, were convicted 
in the District Court for the Western District of Texas 
under three counts of an indictment charging violation 
of the mail fraud statute, 18 U. S. C. (Supp. V) § 1341, 
violation of the National Stolen Property Act, 18 U. S. C. 
(Supp. V) § 2314, and a conspiracy to commit the afore
said substantive ofFenses, 18 U. S. C. (Supp. V) § 371. 
The Court of Appeals for the Fifth Circuit affirmed. - 202 
F. 2d 830. This Court granted certiorari to consider ques
tions which are important to the proper administration of 
criminal justice in the federal courts. 345 U. S. 990.

On April 19, 1951, Mrs. Gertrude Joyce, a wealthy 
widow, fifty-six years old, and her younger half-sister, 
Miss Katherine Joyner, were accosted by the petitioner 
Brading as they were about to enter a hotel in El Paso, 
Texas. Mrs. Joyce and her sister had just arrived from 
their home in Roswell, New Mexico, and were preparing 
to register at the hotel. Brading identified himself, as
sisted them in parking their car, and invited them into 
the hotel bar to meet a friend of his. They accepted. 
The friend was petitioner Pereira, thirty-three years of 
age. After a few drinks, the men suggested that they 
all go to Juarez for dinner. The women accepted, and
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after dinner visited some night clubs with the petitioners. 
Pereira devoted himself to Mrs. Joyce, telling her that 
their meeting was an “epoch” in his life. He mentioned 
that he was getting a divorce. This same performance 
was repeated the following night. When Pereira said that 
he would like to return to Roswell with the women, Mrs. 
Joyce invited the two men to be her house guests, and 
they accepted. Pereira commenced to make love to Mrs. 
Joyce, and she responded to his attentions. On May 3, 
Pereira exhibited a telegram to Mrs. Joyce, in the presence 
of Brading and Miss Joyner, stating that his divorce 
would be granted on May 27, but that he would not 
receive his share of the property settlement, some $48,000, 
for a month.

Brading represented himself as a prosperous oil man, 
dealing in leases, and Pereira as the owner and operator 
of several profitable hotels. Brading then told Mrs. 
Joyce that Pereira was about to lose an opportunity to 
share in the profits of some excellent oil leases because 
of the delay in the divorce property settlement, and 
persuaded her to lend Pereira $5,000.

Pereira suggested that he and Mrs. Joyce take a trip 
together to “become better acquainted.” He borrowed 
$1,000 from her to finance the trip. Brading joined them 
at Wichita Falls, and the three of them continued the 
trip together as far as Dallas. Pereira discussed his 
purported hotel business in Denver during this part of 
the trip. He stated that he was giving two hotels to his 
divorced wife, but intended to re-enter the hotel business 
in the fall. In the meantime, he was going to “play a 
little oil” with Brading. In Hot Springs, Arkansas, 
Pereira proposed marriage and was accepted. Brading 
reappeared on the scene, expressing great joy at the im
pending marriage. Pereira then told Brading, in the 
presence of Mrs. Joyce, that he would have to withdraw 
from further oil deals and get a hotel to assure himself 
of a steady income.
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Pereira and Mrs. Joyce were married May 25, 1951, in 
Kansas City, Missouri. While there, Pereira persuaded 
Mrs. Joyce to procure funds to enable him to complete 
an arrangement to purchase a Cadillac through a friend. 
She secured a check for $6,956.55 from her Los Angeles 
broker, and drawn on a California bank, which she en
dorsed over to Pereira. The price of the car was $4,750, 
and she instructed Pereira to return the balance of the 
proceeds of the check to her. He kept the change.

From that time on, Pereira and Brading, in the pres
ence of MrB. Joyce, discussed a hotel which by words and 
conduct they represented that Pereira was to buy in 
Greenville, Texas. They took Mrs. Joyce—by this time 
Mrs. Pereira—to see it, and exhibited an option for its 
purchase for $78,000 through a supposed broker, “E. J. 
Wilson.” Pereira asked his then wife if she would join 
him in the hotel venture and advance $35,000 toward the 
purchase price of $78,000. She agreed. It was then 
agreed, between her and Pereira, that she would sell some 
securities that she possessed in Los Angeles, and bank 
the money in a bank of his choosing in El Paso. On 
June 15, Bhe received the check for $35,000 on the Citizens 
National Bank of Los Angeles from her brokers in Los 
Angeles, and gave it to Pereira, who endorsed it for col
lection to the State National Bank of El Paso. The 
check cleared, and on June 18, a cashier’s check for 
$35,000 was drawn in favor of Pereira.

At five o’clock in the morning of June 19, Pereira 
and Brading, after telling their victim that they were 
driving the Cadillac to a neighboring town to sign some 
oil leases, left her at home in Roswell, New Mexico, prom
ising to return by noon. Instead Pereira picked up the 
check for $35,000 at the El Paso Bank, cashed it there, 
and with Brading left with the money and the Cadillac.

That was the last Mrs. Joyce saw of either petitioner, 
or of her money, until the trial some seven months later. 
She divorced Pereira on November 16, 1951.
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The record clearly shows that Brading was not an oil 
jnan; that Pereira was not a hotel owner; that there was 
no divorce or property settlement pending in Denver; 
that Pereira arranged to have the telegram concerning 
the divorce sent to him by a friend in Denver; that there 
were no oil leases; that the hotel deal was wholly ficti
tious; and that “E. J. Wilson” was the petitioner Brad
ing. The only true statements which the petitioners 
made concerned the purchase of the Cadillac, and they 
took that with them. Pereira and Brading contrived all 
of the papers used to lend an air of authenticity to their 
deals. In short, their activities followed the familiar 
pattern of the “confidence game.”

The petitioners challenge the admissibility of Mrs. 
Joyce’s testimony as being based on confidential com
munications between Mrs. Joyce and Pereira during the 
marriage. Petitioners do not now contend that Mrs. 
Joyce was not a competent witness against her ex- 
husband. They concede that the divorce removed any 
bar of incompetency. That is the generally accepted 
rule. Wigmore, Evidence, § 2237 ; 58 Am. Jur., Wit
nesses, § 204. Petitioners rely on the proposition that 
while divorce removes the bar of incompetency, it does 
not terminate the privilege for confidential marital com
munications. Wigmore, Evidence, § 2341 (2); 58 Am. 
Jur., Witnesses, § 379. This is a correct statement of the 
rule, but it is inapplicable to bar the communications in
volved in this case,since under the facts o? tTie case,it can- 
not' be said that these communications were confidential. 
Although marital communications are presumed to be con
fidential, that presumption may be overcome by proof 
of facts showing that they were not intended to be private. 
Blau v. United States, 340 U. S. 332; Wolfle v. United 
States, 291 U. S. 7. The presence of a third party nega
tives the presumption of privacy. Wigmore, Evidence, 

too, the intention that the information con-
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veyed be transmitted to a third person. Id., § 2336. The 
privilege, generally, extends only to utterances, and not 
to acts. Id., § 2337. A review of Mrs. Joyce’s testimony 
reveals that it involved primarily statements made in 
the presence of Brading or Miss Joyner, or both, acts of 
Pereira which did not amount to communications, trips 
taken with third parties, and her own acts. Much of her 
testimony related to matters occurring prior to the mar
riage. Any residuum which may have been intended to 
be confidential was so slight as to be immaterial. Cf. 
United States v. Mitchell, 137 F. 2d 1006, 1009.

The court below was not in error in admitting Mrs. 
Joyce’s testimony.

The petitioners challenge their conviction on the sub
stantive counts on the ground that there was no evidence 
of any mailing or of transporting stolen property 
interstate, the gist of the respective offenses. These 
contentions are without merit.

The mail fraud statute provides:
“§ 1341. Frauds and swindles
“Whoever, having devised or intending to devise 

any scheme or artifice to defraud, or for obtaining 
money or property by means of false or fraudulent 
pretenses, representations, or promises, or to sell, 
dispose of, loan, exchange, alter, give away, dis
tribute, supply, or furnish or procure for unlawful 
use any counterfeit or spurious coin, obligation, se
curity, or other article, or anything represented to 
be or intimated or held out to be such counterfeit 
or spurious article, for the purpose of executing such 
scheme or artifice or attempting so to do, places in 
any post office or authorized depository for mail 
matter, any matter or thing whatever to be sent or 
delivered by the Post Office Department, or takeB 
or receives therefrom, any such matter or thing, or 
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knowingly causes to be delivered by mail according 
to the direction thereon, or at the place at which 
it is directed to be delivered by the person to whom 
it is addressed, any such matter or thing, shall be 
fined not more than $1,000 or imprisoned not more 
than five years, or both.” 18 U. S. C. (Supp. V) 
§1341.

The National Stolen Property Act provides:
“§ 2314. Transportation of stolen goods, securi

ties, monies, or articles used in counterfeiting
“Whoever transports in interstate or foreign com

merce any goods, wares, merchandise, securities or 
money, of the value of $5,000 or more, knowing the 
same to have been stolen, converted or taken by 

HfraucL .
“Snail be fined not more than $10,000 or impris

oned not more than ten years, or both. . . .” 18 
U. S. C. (Supp. V) § 2314.

To constitute a violation of these provisions, it is not 
necessary to show that petitioners actually mailed or 
transported anything themselves; it is sufficient if they 
caused it to be done. 18 U. S. C. (Supp. V) § 2 (b).

Petitioners do not deny that the proof offered estab
lishes that they planned to defraud Mrs. Joyce. Collect
ing the proceeds of the check was an essential part of 
that scheme. For this purpose, Pereira delivered the 
check drawn on a Los Angeles bank to the El Paso bank. 
There was substantial evidence to show that the check 
was mailed from Texas to California, in the ordinary 
course of business.

The elements of the offense of mail fraud under 18 
U. S. C. (Supp. V) § 1341 are (1) a scheme to defraud, 
and (2) the mailing of a letter, etc., for the purpose of 
executing the scheme. It is not necessary that the 
scheme contemplate the use of the mails as an essential 
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element. United States v. Young, 232 U. S. 155. Here, 
the scheme to defraud is established, and the mailing of 
the check by the bank, incident to an essential part of 
the scheme, is established. There remains only the 
question whether Pereira “caused” the mailing. That 
question is easily answered. Where one does an act with 
knowledge that the use of the mails will follow in the 
ordinary course of business, or where such use can rea
sonably be foreseen, even though not actually intended, 
then he “causes” the mails to be used. United States v. 
Kenojskey, 243 U. S. 440. The conclusion that Pereira’s 
conviction under this count was proper follows naturally 
from these factors.

As to the charge of causing stolen property to be trans
ported in interstate commerce, the validity of Pereira’s 
conviction is even more apparent. Sections 1341 and 
2314 of Title 18 constitute two separate offenses, and a 
defendant may be convicted of both even though the 
charges arise from a single act or series of acts, so long as 
each requires the proof of a fact not essential to the other. 
Gavieres v. United States, 220 U. S. 338; Blockburger n. 
United States, 284 U. S. 299. 18 U. S. C. (Supp. V) 
§ 2314 requires (1) knowledge that certain property has 
been stolen or obtained by fraud, and (2) transporting it, 
or causing it to be transported in interstate commerce. 
It is obvious that the mail fraud offense requires different 
proof. The transporting charge does not require proof 
that any specific means of transporting were used, or that 
the acts were done pursuant to a scheme to defraud, as 
is required for the mail fraud charge. United States v. 
Sheridan, 329 U. S. 379. When Pereira delivered the 
check, drawn on an out-of-state bank, to the El Paso bank 
for collection, he “caused” it to be transported in inter
state commerce. It is common knowledge that such 
checks must be sent to the drawee bank for collection, 
and it follows that Pereira intended the El Paso bank to 
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send this check across state lines. United States v. Sheri
dan, supra, at 391. The trial court charged the jury that 
one who “aids, abets, counsels, commands, induces, or 
procures” the commission of an act is as responsible for 
that act as if he had directly committed the act himself. 
See 18 U. S. C. (Supp. V) § 2 (a). Nye & Nissen v. 
United States, 336 U. S. 613. The jury found Brading 
guilty in the light of this instruction. The Court of Ap
peals affirmed on the ground that the evidence supported 
conviction under this charge.*

The evidence is clear and convincing that Brading was 
a participant in the fraud from beginning to end. Brad
ing made the initial contact with the victim. He per
suaded her to part with $5,000, as a loan to Pereira for 
investment in some nonexistent oil leases. He was pres
ent and participated in conversations about buying the 
hotel lease. He engaged a telephone answering service 
under the name of “E. J. Wilson,” the name of Pereira’s 
purported broker. The evidence established that he sent 
a telegram to Pereira authorizing an extension of the sup
posed option to purchase the hotel, signing it “E. J. Wil
son.” He supplied the false excuse for Pereira’s depar
ture from the victim, and went with Pereira to collect 
the proceeds of the check. He and Pereira fled together 
with the money.

The “aiding and abetting” instruction entitled the jury 
to draw inferences supplying any lack of evidence directly

•The Government argues that Brading’s conviction on the sub
stantive offenses can be affirmed on the basis of Pinkerton v. United 
States, 328 U. S. 640, since the record demonstrates that he con
spired to defraud Mrs. Joyce and the acts charged in the substan
tive offenses were acts in furtherance of that design. The Pinkerton 
case, however, is inapplicable here since the jury was not instructed 
in terms of that theory. Nye <fc Nissen v. United States, 336 U. S. 
613.
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connecting the petitioner Brading with the specific acts 
charged in the indictment from the abundant circum
stantial evidence offered. The jury was properly charged 
on this theory. There is ample evidence of the petition
ers’ collaboration and close cooperation in the fraud from 
which the jury could conclude that Brading aided, 
abetted, or counseled Pereira in the commission of the 
specific acts charged. See Nye & Nissen v. United States, 
supra, at 619. The Court of Appeals has passed on the 
sufficiency of the evidence to sustain Brading’s convic
tion on this theory. We see no reason to upset the find
ings of the courts below.

The petitioners allege that their conviction on both 
the substantive counts and a conspiracy to commit th&.
crimes charged in the substantive count^-COTistifutes 
double jeopardy. It is settled law in this country that 
the commission of a substantive offense and a conspiracy 
to commit it are separate and distinct crimes, and a plea 
of double jeopardy is no defense to a conviction for both. 
See Pinkerton v. United States, 328 U. S. 640, 643-644, 
and cases cited therein. Only if the substantive offense 
and the conspiracy are identical does a conviction for 
both constitute double jeopardy. Cf. Gavieres v. United 
States, 220 U. S. 338. The substantive offenses with 
which petitioners were charged do not require more 
than one person for their commission; either could be 
accomplished by a single individual. The essence of the 
conspiracy charge is an agreement to use the mails to 
defraud and/or to transport in interstate commerce prop
erty known to have been obtained by fraud. Pereira’s 
conviction on the substantive counts does not depend on 
any agreement, he being the principal actor. Similarly, 
Brading’s conviction does not turn on the agreement. 
Aiding, abetting, and counseling are not terms which pre
suppose the existence of an agreement. Those terms. 
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have a broader application, making the defendant a prin
cipal when he consciously shares in a criminal act, re
gardless of the existence of a conspiracy. Nye & Nissen 
v. United States, supra, at 620. Thus, the charge of con
spiracy requires proof not essential to the convictions on 
the substantive offenses—proof of an agreement to com
mit an offense against the United States—and it cannot 
be said that the substantive offenses and the conspiracy 
are identical, any more than the two substantive offenses 
are identical.

Petitioners further contend that there was no evidence 
that they agreed to use the mails in furtherance of the 
scheme to defraud Mrs. Joyce or that they agreed to trans
port stolen property in interstate commerce. It is not 
necessary that an agreement to use the mails or transport 
stolen property exist from the inception of the scheme to 
defraud. If there was such an agreement at any time, 
it is sufficient. The existence of a conspiracy to defraud 
Mrs. Joyce is not denied. Pereira obtained a check from 
the victim for the purchase of an automobile. That check 
was drawn on a Los Angeles bank by Mrs. Joyce’s brokers. 
When the subject of purchasing the hotel was broached, 
Mrs. Joyce told Pereira that she would have to have her 
California broker sell some stocks to obtain the funds for 
the purchase. When there was a delay in contacting the 
broker, Brading, as “E. J. WilBon,” sent a telegram extend
ing the spurious option for the purchase of the hotel. 
There is no doubt about Pereira’s knowledge that a check 
on an out-of-state bank would be involved. From what 
we have said with regard to the substantive offenses, it 
is also clear that an intent to collect on the check would 
include an intent to use the mails or to transport the 
check in interstate commerce. It was certainly not im
proper to allow the jury to determine from the circum
stances whether Brading shared Pereira’s knowledge and
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agreed with him as to the use of the only appropriate 
means of collecting the money. It would be unreason
able to suppose that Brading would be so closely associ
ated with Pereira in the scheme to defraud without know
ing the details related to the realization of their common 
goal. There is no reason for this Court to upset the jury’s 
finding of conspiracy.

For the foregoing reasons, the judgment below is
Affirmed.

Mr. Justice Reed took no part in the consideration or 
decision of this case.

i
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The petitioners, Pereira and Brading, were convicted 
in the District Court for the Western District of Texas 
under three counts of an indictment charging violation 
of the mail fraud statute, 18 U. S. C. (Supp. V) § 1341, 
violation of the National Stolen Property Act, 18 U. S. C. 
(Supp. V) § 2314, and a conspiracy to commit the afore
said substantive offenses, 18 U. S. C. (Supp. V) § 371. 
The Court of Appeals for the Fifth Circuit affirmed. 202 
F. 2d 830. This Court granted certiorari to consider ques
tions which are important to the proper administration of 
criminal justice in the federal courts. 345 U. S. 990.

On April 19, 1951, Mrs. Gertrude Joyce, a wealthy 
widow, fifty-six years old, and her younger half-sister, 
Miss Katherine Joyner, were accosted by the petitioner 
Brading as they were about to enter a hotel in El Paso, 
Texas. Mrs. Joyce and her sister had just arrived from 
their home in Roswell, New Mexico, and were preparing 
to register at the hotel. Brading identified himself, as
sisted them in parking their car, and invited them into 
the hotel bar to meet a friend of his. They accepted. 
The friend was petitioner Pereira, thirty-three years of 
age. After a few drinks, the men suggested that they 
all go to Juarez for dinner. The women accepted, and
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after dinner visited some night clubs with the petitioners. 
Pereira devoted himself to Mrs. Joyce, telling her that 
their meeting was an “epoch” in his life. He mentioned 
that he was getting a divorce. This same performance 
was repeated the following night. When Pereira said that 
he would like to return to Roswell with the women, Mrs. 
Joyce invited the two men to be her house guests, and 
they accepted. Pereira commenced to make love to Mrs. 
Joyce, and she responded to his attentions. On May 3, 
Pereira exhibited a telegram to Mrs. Joyce, in the presence 
of Brading and Miss Joyner, stating that his divorce 
would be granted on May 27, but that he would not 
receive his share of the property settlement, some $48,000, 
for a month.

Brading represented himself as a prosperous oil man, 
dealing in leases, and Pereira as the owner and operator 
of several profitable hotels. Brading then told Mrs. 
Joyce that Pereira was about to lose an opportunity to 
share in the profits of some excellent oil leases because 
of the delay in the divorce property settlement, and 
persuaded her to lend Pereira $5,000.

Pereira suggested that he and Mrs. Joyce take a trip 
together to “become better acquainted.” He borrowed 
$1,000 from her to finance the trip. Brading joined them 
at Wichita Falls, and the three of them continued the 
trip together as far as Dallas. Pereira discussed his 
purported hotel business in Denver during this part of 
the trip. He stated that he was giving two hotels to his 
divorced wife, but intended to re-enter the hotel business 
in the fall. In the meantime, he w’as going to “play a 
little oil” with Brading. In Hot Springs, Arkansas, 
Pereira proposed marriage and was accepted. Brading 
reappeared on the scene, expressing great joy at the im
pending marriage. Pereira then told Brading, in the 
presence of Mrs. Joyce, that he would have to withdraw 
from further oil deals and get a hotel to assure himself 
of a steady income.
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Pereira and Mrs. Joyce were married May 25, 1951, in 
Kansas City, Missouri. While there, Pereira persuaded 
Mrs. Joyce to procure funds to enable him to complete 
an arrangement to purchase a Cadillac through a friend. 
She secured a check for $6,956.55 from her Los Angeles 
broker, and drawn on a California bank, which she en
dorsed over to Pereira. The price of the car was $4,750, 
and she instructed Pereira to return the balance of the 
proceeds of the check to her. He kept the change.

From that time on, Pereira and Brading, in the pres
ence of Mrs. Joyce, discussed a hotel which by words and 
conduct they represented that Pereira was to buy in 
Greenville, Texas. They took Mrs. Joyce—by this time 
Mrs. Pereira—to see it, and exhibited an option for its 
purchase for $78,000 through a supposed broker, “E. J. 
Wilson.” Pereira asked his then wife if she would join 
him in the hotel venture and advance $35,000 toward the 
purchase price of $78,000. She agreed. It was then 
agreed, between her and Pereira, that she would sell some 
securities that she possessed in Los Angeles, and bank 
the money in a bank of his choosing in El Paso. On 
June 15, she received the check for $35,000 on the Citizens 
National Bank of Los Angeles from her brokers in Los 
Angeles, and gave it to Pereira, who endorsed it for col
lection to the State National Bank of El Paso. The 
check cleared, and on June 18, a cashier’s check for 
$35,000 was drawn in favor of Pereira.

At five o’clock in the morning of June 19, Pereira 
and Brading, after telling their victim that they were 
driving the Cadillac to a neighboring town to sign some 
oil leases, left her at home in Roswell, New Mexico, prom
ising to return by noon. Instead Pereira picked up the 
check for $35,000 at the El Paso Bank, cashed it there, 
and with Brading left with the money and the Cadillac.

That was the last Mrs. Joyce saw of either petitioner, 
or of her money, until the trial some seven months later. 
She divorced Pereira on November 16, 1951.
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The record clearly shows that Brading was not an oil 
man; that Pereira was not a hotel owner; that there was 
no divorce or property settlement pending in Denver; 
that Pereira arranged to have the telegram concerning 
the divorce sent to him by a friend in Denver; that there 
were no oil leases; that the hotel deal was wholly ficti
tious; and that “E. J. Wilson” was the petitioner Brad
ing. The only true statements which the petitioners 
made concerned the purchase of the Cadillac, and they 
took that with them. Pereira and Brading contrived all 
of the papers used to lend an air of authenticity to their 
deals. In short, their activities followed the familiar 
pattern of the “confidence game.”

The petitioners challenge the admissibility of Mrs. 
Joyce’s testimony as being based on confidential com
munications between Mrs. Joyce and Pereira during the 
marriage. Petitioners do not now contend that Mrs. 
Joyce was not a competent witness against her ex- 
husband. They concede that the divorce removed any 
bar of incompetency. That is the generally accepted 
rule. Wigmore, Evidence, § 2237; 58 Am. Jur., Wit
nesses, § 204. Petitioners rely on the proposition that 
while divorce removes the bar of incompetency, it does 
not terminate the privilege for confidential marital com
munications. Wigmore, Evidence, § 2341 (2); 58 Am. 
Jur., Witnesses, § 379. This is a correct statement of the 
rule, but it is inapplicable to bar the commimica.tjoi)sjn-. 

< ; ______ volved in this case,jiince under the facts of the case, it can
not Be^saKTHTaK these communications wrere confidential. 
Although marital communications are presumed to be con
fidential, that presumption may be overcome by proof 
of facts showing that they were not intended to be private. 
Blau v. United States, 340 U. S. 332; Wolfle v. United 
States, 291 U. S. 7. The presence of a third party nega
tives the presumption of privacy. Wigmore, Evidence, 
§ 2336. Soft too, the intention that the information con-
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veyed be transmitted to a third person. Id., § 2336. The 
privilege, generally, extends only to utterances, and not 
to acts. Id., § 2337. A review of Mrs. Joyce’s testimony 
reveals that it involved primarily statements made in 
the presence of Brading or Miss Joyner, or both, acts of 
Pereira which did not amount to communications, trips 
taken with third parties, and her own acts. Much of her 
testimony related to matters occurring prior to the mar
riage. Any residuum which may have been intended to- 
be confidential was so slight as to be immaterial. Cf. 
United States v. Mitchell, 137 F. 2d 1006, 1009.

The court below was not in error in admitting Mrs. 
Joyce’s testimony.

The petitioners challenge their conviction on the sub
stantive counts on the ground that there was no evidence 
of any mailing or of transporting stolen property 
interstate, the gist of the respective offenses. These 
contentions are without merit.

The mail fraud statute provides:
“§ 1341. Frauds and swindles
“Whoever, having devised or intending to devise 

any scheme or artifice to defraud, or for obtaining 
money or property by means of false or fraudulent 
pretenses, representations, or promises, or to sell, 
dispose of, loan, exchange, alter, give away, dis
tribute, supply, or furnish or procure for unlawful 
use any counterfeit or spurious coin, obligation, se
curity, or other article, or anything represented to 
be or intimated or held out to be such counterfeit 
or spurious article, for the purpose of executing such 
scheme or artifice or attempting so to do, places in 
any post office or authorized depository for mail 
matter, any matter or thing whatever to be sent or 
delivered by the Post Office Department, or takes 
or receives therefrom, any such matter or thing, or- 
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knowingly causes to be delivered by mail according 
to the direction thereon, or at the place at which 
it is directed to be delivered by the person to whom 
it is addressed, any such matter or thing, shall be 
fined not more than $1,000 or imprisoned not more 
than five years, or both.” 18 U. S. C. (Supp. V)
§1341.

The National Stolen Property Act provides:
“§ 2314. Transportation of stolen goods, securi

ties, monies, or articles used in counterfeiting
“Whoever transports in interstate or foreign com

merce any goods, wares, merchandise, securities or 
money, of the value of $5,000 or more, knowing the 
same to have been stolen, converted or taken by

“Shall be fined not more than $10,000 or impris
oned not more than ten years, or both. . . .” 18
U. S. C. (Supp. V) § 2314.

To constitute a violation of these provisions, it is not 
necessary to show that petitioners actually mailed or 
transported anything themselves; it is sufficient if they 
caused it to be done. 18 U. S. C. (Supp. V) § 2 (b).

Petitioners do not deny that the proof offered estab
lishes that they planned to defraud Mrs. Joyce. Collect
ing the proceeds of the check was an essential part of 
that scheme. For this purpose, Pereira delivered the 
check drawn on a Los Angeles bank to the El Paso bank. 
There was substantial evidence to show that the check 
was mailed from Texas to California, in the ordinary 
course of business.

The elements of the offense of mail fraud under 18 
U. S. C. (Supp. V) § 1341 are (1) a scheme to defraud, 
and (2) the mailing of a letter, etc., for the purpose of 
executing the scheme. It is not necessary that the 
scheme contemplate the use of the mails as an essential 
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element. United States v. Young, 232 U. S. 155. Here, 
the scheme to defraud is established, and the mailing of 
the check by the bank, incident to an essential part of 
the scheme, is established. There remains only the 
question whether Pereira “caused” the mailing. That 
question is easily answered. Where one doeB an act with 
knowledge that the use of the mails will follow in the 
ordinary course of business, or where such use can rea
sonably be foreseen, even though not actually intended, 
then he “causes” the mails to be used. United States v. 
Kenojskey, 243 U. S. 440. The conclusion that Pereira’s 
conviction under this count was proper follows naturally 
from these factors.

As to the charge of causing stolen property to be trans
ported in interstate commerce, the validity of Pereira’s 
conviction is even more apparent. Sections 1341 and 
2314 of Title 18 constitute two separate offenses, and a 
defendant may be convicted of both even though the 
charges arise from a single act or series of acts, so long as 
each requires the proof of a fact not essential to the other. 
Gavieres v. United States, 220 U. S. 338; Blockburger v. 
United States, 284 U. S. 299. 18 U. S. C. (Supp. V) 
§ 2314 requires (1) knowledge that certain property has 
been stolen or obtained by fraud, and (2) transporting it, 
or causing it to be transported in interstate commerce. 
It is obvious that the mail fraud offense requires different 
proof. The transporting charge does not require proof 
that any specific means of transporting were used, or that 
the acts were done pursuant to a scheme to defraud, as 
is required for the mail fraud charge. United States v. 
Sheridan, 329 U. S. 379. When Pereira delivered the 
check, drawn on an out-of-state bank, to the El Paso bank 
for collection, he “caused” it to be transported in inter
state commerce. It is common knowledge that such 
checks must be sent to the drawee bank for collection, 
and it follows that Pereira intended the El Paso bank to
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send this check across state lines. United States v. Sheri
dan, supra, at 391. The trial court charged the jury that 
one who “aids, abets, counsels, commands, induces, or 
procures” the commission of an act is as responsible for 
that act as if he had directly committed the act himself. 
See 18 U. S. C. (Supp. V) § 2 (a). Nye & Nissen v. 
United States, 336 U. S. 613. The jury found Brading 
guilty in the light of this instruction. The Court of Ap
peals affirmed on the ground that the evidence supported 
conviction under thiB charge.*

The evidence is clear and convincing that Brading was 
a participant in the fraud from beginning to end. Brad
ing made the initial contact with the victim. He per
suaded her to part with $5,000, as a loan to Pereira for 
investment in some nonexistent oil leases. He was pres
ent and participated in conversations about buying the 
hotel lease. He engaged a telephone answering service 
under the name of “E. J. Wilson,” the name of Pereira’s 
purported broker. The evidence established that he sent 
a telegram to Pereira authorizing an extension of the sup
posed option to purchase the hotel, signing it “E. J. Wil
son.” He supplied the false excuse for Pereira’s depar
ture from the victim, and went with Pereira to collect 
the proceeds of the check. He and Pereira fled together 
with the money.

The “aiding and abetting” instruction entitled the jury 
to draw inferences supplying any lack of evidence directly

♦The Government argues that Brading’s conviction on the sub
stantive offenses can be affirmed on the basis of Pinkerton v. United 
States, 328 U. S. 640, since the record demonstrates that he con
spired to defraud Mrs. Joyce and the acts charged in the substan
tive offenses were acts in furtherance of that design. The Pinkerton 
case, however, is inapplicable here since the jury was not instructed 
in terms of that theory. Nye <k Nissen v. United States, 336 U. S. 
613.
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connecting the petitioner Brading with the specific acts 
charged in the indictment from the abundant circum
stantial evidence offered. The jury was properly charged 
on this theory. There is ample evidence of the petition
ers’ collaboration and close cooperation in the fraud from 
which the jury could conclude that Brading aided, 
abetted, or counseled Pereira in the commission of the 
specific acts charged. See Nye & Nissen v. United States, 
supra, at 619. The Court of Appeals has passed on the 
sufficiency of the evidence to sustain Brading’s convic
tion on this theory. We see no reason to upset the find
ings of the courts below.

The petitioners allege that their conviction on both 
the substantive counts and a conspiracy to commiUthe
crimes charged in the substantive count^jEonstitutes 
double jeopardy. It is settled law in this country that 
the commission of a substantive offense and a conspiracy 
to commit it are separate and distinct crimes, and a plea 
of double jeopardy is no defense to a conviction for both. 
See Pinkerton v. United Spates, 328 U. S. 640, 643-644, 
and cases cited therein. Only if the substantive offense 
and the conspiracy are identical does a conviction for 
both constitute double jeopardy. Cf. Gavieres v. United 
States, 220 U. S. 338. The substantive offenses with 
which petitioners were charged do not require more 
than one person for their commission; either could be 
accomplished by a single individual. The essence of the 
conspiracy charge is an agreement to use the mails to 
defraud and/or to transport in interstate commerce prop
erty known to have been obtained by fraud. Pereira’s 
conviction on the substantive counts does not depend on 
any agreement, he being the principal actor. Similarly, 
Brading’s conviction does not turn on the agreement. 
Aiding, abetting, and counseling are not terms which pre
suppose the existence of an agreement. Those terms
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have a broader application, making the defendant a prin
cipal when he consciously shares in a criminal act, re
gardless of the existence of a conspiracy. Nye & Nissen 
v. United States, supra, at 620. Thus, the charge of con
spiracy requires proof not essential to the convictions on 
the substantive offenses—proof of an agreement to com
mit an offense against .the United States—and it cannot 
be Baid that the substantive offenses and the conspiracy 
are identical, any more than the two substantive offenses 
are identical.

Petitioners further contend that there was no evidence 
that they agreed to use the mails in furtherance of the 
scheme to defraud Mrs. Joyce or that they agreed to trans
port stolen property in interstate commerce. It is not 
necessary that an agreement to use the mails or transport 
stolen property exist from the inception of the scheme to 
defraud. If there was such an agreement at any time, 
it is sufficient. The existence of a conspiracy to defraud 
Mrs. Joyce is not denied. Pereira obtained a check from 
the victim for the purchase of an automobile. That check 
was drawn on a Los Angeles bank by Mrs. Joyce’s brokers. 
When the subject of purchasing the hotel was broached, 
Mrs. Joyce told Pereira that she would have to have her 
California broker sell some Btocks to obtain the funds for 
the purchase. When there was a delay in contacting the 
broker, Brading, as “E. J. Wilson,” sent a telegram extend
ing the spurious option for the purchase of the hotel. 
There is no doubt about Pereira’s knowledge that a check 
on an out-of-state bank would be involved. From what 
we have said with regard to the substantive offenses, it 
is also clear that an intent to collect on the check would 
include an intent to use the mails or to transport the 
check in interstate commerce. It was certainly not im
proper to allow the jury to determine from the circum
stances whether Brading shared Pereira’s knowledge and
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agreed with him as to the use of the only appropriate 
means of collecting the money. It would be unreason
able to suppose that Brading would be so closely associ
ated with Pereira in the scheme to defraud without know
ing the details related to the realization of their common 
goal. There is no reason for this Court to upset the jury’s 
finding of conspiracy.

For the foregoing reasons, the judgment below is
Affirmed.

Mr. Justice Reed took no part in the consideration or 
decision of this case.
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The petitioners, Pereira and Brading, were convicted 
in the District Court for the Western District of Texas 
under three counts of an indictment charging violation 
of the mail fraud statute, 18 U. S. C. (Supp. V) § 1341, 
violation of the National Stolen Property Act, 18 U. S. C. 
(Supp. V) § 2314, and a conspiracy to commit the afore
said substantive offenses, 18 U. S. C. (Supp. V) § 371. 
The Court of Appeals for the Fifth Circuit affirmed. 202 
F. 2d 830. This Court granted certiorari to consider ques
tions which are important to the proper administration of 
criminal justice in the federal courts. 345 U. S. 990.

On April 19, 1951, Mrs. Gertrude Joyce, a wealthy 
widow, fifty-six years old, and her younger half-sister, 
Miss Katherine Joyner, were accosted by the petitioner 
Brading as they were about to enter a hotel in El Paso, 
Texas. Mrs. Joyce and her sister had just arrived from 
their home in Roswell, New Mexico, and were preparing 
to register at the hotel. Brading identified himself, as
sisted them in parking their car, and invited them into 
the hotel bar to meet a friend of his. They accepted. 
The friend was petitioner Pereira, thirty-three years of 
age. After a few drinks, the men suggested that they 
all go to Juarez for dinner. The women accepted, and

Reproduced From the Collections of the Manuscript Division, Library of Congress
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after dinner visited some night clubs with the petitioners. 
Pereira devoted himself to Mrs. Joyce, telling her that
their meeting was an “epoch” in his life. He mentioned 
that he was getting a divorce. This same performance 
was repeated the following night. When Pereira said that 
he would like to return to Roswell with the women, Mrs.
Joyce invited the two men to be her house guests, and 
they accepted. Pereira commenced to make love to Mrs. 
Joyce, and she responded to his attentions. On May 3d; 
Pereira exhibited a telegram to Mrs. Joyce, in the presence 
of Brading and Miss Joyner, stating that his divorce 
would be granted on May 27Urfbut that he would not 
receive his share of the property settlement, some $48,000, 
for a month.

Brading represented himself as a prosperous oil man, 
dealing in leases, and Pereira as the owner and operator 
of several profitable hotels. Brading then told Mrs. 
Joyce that Pereira was about to lose an opportunity to 
share in the profits of some excellent oil leases because 
of the delay in the divorce property settlement, and 
persuaded her to lend Pereira $5,000.

Pereira suggested that he and Mrs. Joyce take a trip 
together to “become better acquainted.” He borrowed 
$1,000 from her to finance the trip. Brading joined them 
at Wichita Falls, and the three of them continued the 
trip together as far as Dallas. Pereira discussed his 
purported hotel business in Denver during this part of 
the trip. He stated that he was giving two hotels to his 
divorced wife, but intended to re-enter the hotel business 
in the fall. In the meantime, he was going to “play a 
little oil” with Brading. In Hot Springs, Arkansas, 
Pereira proposed marriage and was accepted. Brading 
reappeared on the scene, expressing great joy at the im
pending marriage. Pereira then told Brading, in the 
presence of Mrs. Joyce, that he would have to withdraw 
from further oil deals and get a hotel to assure himself 
of a steady income.
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Pereira and Mrs. Joyce were married May 25, 1951, in 
Kansas City, Missouri. While there, Pereira persuaded 
Mrs. Joyce to procure funds to enable him to complete 
an arrangement to purchase a Cadillac through a friend. 
She secured a check for $6,956.55 from her Los Angeles 
broker, and drawn on a California bank, -which she en
dorsed over to Pereira. The price of the car was $4,750, 
and she instructed Pereira to return the balance of the 
proceeds of the check to her. He kept the change.

From that time on, Pereira and Brading, in the pres
ence of Mrs. Joyce, discussed a hotel which by words and 
conduct they represented that Pereira was to buy in 
Greenville, Texas. They took Mrs. Joyce—by this time 
Mrs. Pereira—to see it, and exhibited an option for its 
purchase for $78,000 through a supposed broker, “E. J. 
Wilson.” Pereira asked his then wife if she would join 
him in the hotel venture and advance $35,000 toward the 
purchase price of $78,000. She agreed. It was then 
agreed, between her and Pereira, that she would sell some 
securities that she possessed in Los Angeles, and bank 
the money in a bank of his choosing in El Paso. On 
June 15, she received the check for $35,000 on the Citizens 
National Bank of Los Angeles from her brokers in Los 
Angeles, and gave it to Pereira, who endorsed it for col
lection to the State National Bank of El Paso. The 
check cleared, and on June 18W, a cashier’s check for 
$35,000 was drawn in favor of Pereira.

At five o’clock in the morning of June 19j^, Pereira 
and Brading, after telling their victim that they were 
driving the Cadillac to a neighboring town to sign some 
oil leases, left her at home in Roswell, New Mexico, prom
ising to return by noon. Instead Pereira picked up the 
check for $35,000 at the El Paso Bank, cashed it there, 
and with Brading left with the money and the Cadillac.

That was the last Mrs. Joyce saw of either petitioner, 
or of her money, until the trial some seven months later. 
She divorced Pereira on November 16, 1951.
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The record clearly shows that Brading was not an oil 
man; that Pereira was not a hotel owner; that there was 
no divorce or property settlement pending in Denver; 
that Pereira arranged to have the telegram concerning 
the divorce sent to him by a friend in Denver; that there 
were no oil leases; that the hotel deal was wholly ficti
tious; and that “E. J. Wilson” was the petitioner Brad
ing. The only true statements which the petitioners 
made concerned the purchase of the Cadillac, and they 
took that with them. Pereira and Brading contrived all 
of the papers used to lend an air of authenticity to their 
deals. In short, their activities followed the familiar 
pattern of the “confidence game.”

The petitioners challenge the admissibility of Mrs. 
Joyce’s testimony as being based on confidential com
munications between Mrs. Joyce and Pereira during the 
marriage. Petitioners do not now contend that Mrs. 
Joyce was not a competent witness against her ex- 
husband. They concede that the divorce removed any 
bar of incompetency. That is the generally accepted 
rule. Wigmore, Evidence, §2237; 58 Am. Jur., Wit
nesses, § 204. Petitioners rely on the proposition that 
while divorce removes the bar of incompetency, it does 
not terminate the privilege for confidential marital com
munications. Wigmore, Evidence, § 2341 (2); 58 Am. 
Jur., Witnesses, § 379. This is a correct statement of 
the rule, but it is inapplicable to bar the communications 
involved in this case^jf^the respective offenses. These 

u. . • • •contentions are without merit.
The mail fraud statute provides:

“§ 1341. Frauds and swindles
“Whoever, having devised or intending to devise 

any scheme or artifice to defraud, or for obtaining 
money or property by means of false or fraudulent 
pretenses, representations, or promises, or to sell, 
dispose of, loan, exchange, alter, give away, dis-
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"•Even if did not find Mro. Joyee's testimony to be- 

 

ndniiasikiq nMer the above stated-fiXEEpiinn, it-cnuld not. 
A* rmdnrtgdSr il»da<^thp faet.s of the camp it cannot he 
said that tfie^e communications were confidential. Al
though marital communications are presumed to be con
fidential, that presumption may be overcome by prodf 
of facts showing that they were not intended to be private. 
Blau v. United States, 340 U. S. 332; Wolfle v. United 
States, 291 U. S. 7. The presence of a third party nega
tives the presumption of privacy. Wigmore, Evidence, 
§ 2336. So, too, the intention that the information con
veyed be transmitted to a third person. Id., § 2336. The 
privilege, generally, extends only to utterances, and not 
to acts. Id., § 2337. A review of Mrs. Joyce’s testimony 
reveals that it involved primarily statements made in 
the presence of Brading or Miss Joyner, or both, acts of 
Pereira which did not amount to communications, trips 
taken with third parties, and her own acts. Much of her 
testimony related to matters occurring prior to the mar
riage. Any residuum which may have 'been intended to 
be confidential was so slight as to be immaterial. Cf.

» United States v. Mitchell, 137 F. 2d 1006, 1009.
The court below was not in error in admitting Mrs. 

Joyce’s testimony.
The petitioners challenge their conviction on the sub

stantive counts on the ground that there was no evidence 
of any mailing or of transporting stolen property 
interstate, the gist of the respective offenses. These 
contentions are without merit.

The mail fraud statute provides:
“§ 1341. Frauds and swindles
“Whoever, having devised or intending to devise 

any scheme or artifice to defraud, or for obtaining 
money or property by means of false or fraudulent 
pretenses, representations, or promises, or to sell, 
dispose of, loan, exchange, alter, give away, dis

7
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tribute, supply, or furnish or procure for unlawful 
use any counterfeit or spurious coin, obligation, se
curity, or other article, or anything represented to 
be or intimated or held out to be such counterfeit 
or spurious article, for the purpose of executing such 
scheme or artifice or attempting so to do, places in 
any post office or authorized depository for . mail 
matter, any matter or thing whatever to be sent or 
delivered by the Post Office Department, or takes 
or receives therefrom, any such matter or thing, or 
knowingly causes to be delivered by mail according 
to the direction thereon, or at the place at which 
it is directed to be delivered by the person to whom 
it is addressed, any such matter or thing, shall be 
fined not more than $1,000 or imprisoned not more 
than five years, or both.” 18 U. S. C. (Supp. V) 
§ 1341.

The National Stolen Property Act provides:
“§ 2314. Transportation of stolen goods, securi

ties, monies, or articles used in counterfeiting
“Whoever transports in interstate or foreign com

merce any goods, wares, merchandise, securities or 
money, of the value of $5,000 or more, knowing the 
same to have been stolen, converted or taken by 
fraud. . . .

“Shall be fined not more than $10,000 or impris
oned not more than ten years, or both. . . 18
U. S. C. (Supp. V) § 2314.

To constitute a violation of these provisions, it is not 
necessary to show that petitioners actually mailed or 
transported anything themselves; it is sufficient if they 
caused it to be done. 18 U. S. C. (Supp. V) § 2 (b).

Petitioners do not deny that the proof offered estab
lishes that they planned to defraud Mrs. Joyce. Collect
ing the proceeds of the check was an essential part of
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that scheme. For this purpose, Pereira delivered the 
check drawn on a Los Angeles bank to the El Paso bank. 
There was substantial evidence to show that the check 
was mailed from Texas to California, in the ordinary 
course of business.

The elements of the offense of mail fraud under 18 
U. S. C. (Supp. V) § 1341 are (1) a scheme to defraud, 
and (2) the mailing of a letter, etc., for the purpose of 
executing the scheme. It is not necessary that the 
scheme contemplate the use of the mails as an essential 
element. United States v. Young, 232 U. S. 155. Here, 
the scheme to defraud is established, and the mailing of 
the check by the bank, incident to an essential part of 
the scheme, is established. There remains only the 
question whether Pereira “caused” the mailing. That 
question is easily answered. Where one does an act with 
knowledge that the use of the mails will follow in the 
ordinary course of business, or where such use can rea
sonably be foreseen, even though not actually intended, 
then he “causes” the mails to be used. United States v. 
Kenojskey, 243 U. S. 440. The conclusion that Pereira’s 
conviction under this count was proper follows naturally 
from these factors.

As to the charge of causing stolen property to be trans
ported in interstate commerce, the validity of Pereira’s 
conviction is even more apparent. Sections 1341 and 
2314 of Title 18 constitute two separate offenses, and a 
defendant may be convicted of both even though the 
charges arise from a single act or scries of acts, so long as 
each requires the proof of a fact not essential to the other. 
Gavieres v. United States, 220 U. S. 338; Blockburger v. 
United States, 284 U. S. 299. 18 U. S. C. (Supp. V) 
§ 2314 requires (1) knowledge that certain property has 
been stolen or obtained by fraud, and (2) transporting it, 
or causing it to be transported in interstate commerce. 
It is obvious that the mail fraud offense requires different



50

10 PEREIRA v. UNITED STATES.

proof. The transporting charge does not require proof 
that any specific means of transporting were used, or that 
the acts were done pursuant to a scheme to defraud, as 
is required for the mail fraud charge. United States v. 
Sheridan, 329 U. S. 379. When Pereira delivered the 
check, drawn on an out-of-state bank, to the El Paso bank 
for collection, he “caused” it to be transported in inter
state commerce. It is common knowledge that such 
checks must be sent to the drawee bank for collection, 
and it follows that Pereira intended the El Paso bank to 
send this check across state lines. United States v. Sheri
dan, supra, at 391. The trial court charged the jury that 
one who “aids, abets, counsels, commands, induces, or 
procures” the commission of an act is as responsible for 
that act as if he had directly committed the act himself. 
See 18 U. S. C. (Supp. V) §2 (a). Nye & Nissen v. 
United States, 336 U. S. 613. The jury found Brading 
guilty in the light of this instruction. The Court of Ap
peals affirmed on the ground that the evidence supported 
conviction under this charge.*

*The Government argues that Brading’s conviction on the sub
stantive offenses can be affirmed on the basis of Pinkerton v. United 
States, 328 U. S. 640, since the record demonstrates that he con
spired to defraud Mrs. Joyce and the acts charged in the substan
tive offenses were acts in furtherance of that design. The Pinkerton 
case, however, is inapplicable here since the jury was not instructed 
in terms of that theory. A'ye Nissen v. United States, 336 U. S. 
613.

The evidence is clear and convincing that Brading was 
a participant in the fraud from beginning to end. Brad
ing made the initial contact with the victim. He per
suaded her to part with $5,000, as a loan to Pereira for 
investment in some nonexistent oil leases. He was pres
ent and participated in conversations about buying the 
hotel lease. He engaged a telephone answering service 
under the name of “E. J. Wilson,” the name of Pereira’s
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purported broker. The evidence established that he sent 
a telegram to Pereira authorizing an extension of the sup^ 
posed option to purchase the hotel, signing it “E. J. Wil
son?7 Hefsuppled]the false excuse for Pereira’s depar
ture from the victim, and went with Pereira to collect 
the proceeds of the check. He and Pereira fled together 
with the money.

The “aiding and abetting” instruction entitled the jury 
to draw inferences supplying any lack of evidence directly 
connecting the petitioner Brading with the specific acts 
charged in the indictment from the abundant circum
stantial evidence offered. The jury was properly charged 
on this theory. There is ample evidence of the petition
ers’ collaboration and close cooperation in the fraud from 
which the jury could conclude that Brading aided, 
abetted, or counseled Pereira in the commission of the 
specific acts charged. See Nye & Nissen v. United States, 
supra, at 619. The Court of Appeals has passed on the 
sufficiency of the evidence to sustain Brading’s convic
tion on this theory. We see no reason to upset the find
ings of the courts below.

The petitioners allege that their conviction on both 
the substantive counts and a conspiracy to commit the 
crimes charged in the substantive counts, constitutes 
double jeopardy. It is settled law in this country that 
the commission of a substantive offense and a conspiracy 
to commit it are separate and distinct crimes, and a plea 
of double jeopardy is no defense to a conviction for both. 
See Pinkerton v. United States, 328 U. S. 640, 643-644, 
and cases cited therein. Only if the substantive offense 
and the conspiracy are identical does a conviction for 
both constitute double jeopardy. Cf. Gfavieres v. United 
States, 220 U. S. 338. The substantive offenses with 
which petitioners were charged do not require more 
than one person for their commission; either could be 
accomplished by a single individual. The essence of the 
conspiracy charge is an agreement to use the mails to
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defraud and/or to transport in interstate commerce prop
erty known to have been obtained by fraud. Pereira’s 
conviction on the substantive counts does not depend on
any agreement, he being the principal actor. Similarly, 
Brading’s conviction does not turn on the agreement. 
Aiding, abetting, and counseling are not terms which pre
suppose the existence of an agreement. Those terms 
have a broader application, making the defendant a prin
cipal when he consciously shares in a criminal act, re
gardless of the existence of a conspiracy. Nye & Nissen, 
v. United States, supra, at 620. Thus, the charge of con
spiracy requires proof not essential to the convictions on 
the substantive offenses—proof of an agreement to com
mit an offense against the United States—and it cannot 
be said that the substantive offenses and the conspiracy 
are identical, any more than the two substantive offenses
are identical.

Petitioners further contend that there was no evidence 
that they agreed to use the mails in furtherance of the 
scheme to defraud Mrs. Joyce or that they agreed to trans
port stolen property in interstate commerce. It is not 
necessary that an agreement to use the mails or transport 
stolen property exist from the inception of the scheme to 
defraud. If there was such an agreement at any time, 
it is sufficient. The existence of a conspiracy to defraud 
Mrs. Joyce is not denied. Pereira obtained a check from 
the victim for the purchase of an automobile. That check 
was drawn on a Los Angeles bank by Mrs. Joyce’s brokers. 
When the subject of purchasing the hotel was broached, 
Mrs. Joyce told Pereira that she would have to have her 
California broker sell some stocks to obtain the funds for
the purchase. When there was a delay in contacting the 
broker, Brading, as “E. J. Wilson,” sent a telegram extend
ing the spurious option for the purchase of the hotel. 
There is no doubt about Pereira’s knowledge that a check 
on an out-of-state bank would be involved. From what
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we have said with regard to the substantive offenses, it 
is also clear that an intent to collect on the check would 
include an intent to use the mails or to transport the 
check in interstate commerce. It was certainly not im
proper to allow the jury to determine from the circum
stances whether Brading shared Pereira’s knowledge and 
agreed with him as to the use of the only appropriate 
means of collecting the money. It would be unreason
able to suppose that Brading would be so closely associ
ated with Pereira in the scheme to defraud without know
ing the details related to the realization of their common 
goal. There is no reason for this Court to upset the jury’s 
finding of conspiracy.

For the foregoing reasons, the judgment below is
Affirmed.

Mr. Justice Reed took no part in the consideration or 
decision of this case.

accepted, and
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The petitioners, Pereira and Brading. were convicted 
in the District Court for the Western District of Texas 
under three counts of an indictment charging violation 
of the mail fraud statute, 18 U. S. C. (Supp. V) § 1341, 
violation of the National Stolen Property Act, 18 U. S. C. 
(Supp. V) § 2314, and a conspiracy to commit the afore
said substantive offenses, 18 U; S. C. (Supp. V) § 371. 
The Court of Appeals for the Fifth Circuit affirmed. 202 
F. 2d 830. This Court granted certiorari to consider ques
tions which are important to the proper administration of 
criminal justice in the federal courts. 345 U. S. 990.

On April 19, 1951, Mrs. Gertrude Joyce, a wealthy 
widow, fifty-six years old, and her younger half-sister, 
Miss Katherine Joyner, were accosted by the petitioner 
Brading as they were about to enter a hotel in El Paso, 
Texas. Mrs. Joyce and her Bister had just arrived from 
their home in Roswell, New Mexico, and were preparing 
to register at the hotel. Brading identified himself, as
sisted them in parking their car, and invited them into 
the hotel bar to meet a friend of his. They accepted. 
The friend was petitioner Pereira, thirty-three years of 
age. After a few drinks, the men suggested that they 
all go to Juarez for dinner. The women accepted, and
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after dinner visited some night clubs with the petitioners. 
Pereira devoted himself to Mrs. Joyce, telling her that 
their meeting was an “epoch”, in his life. He mentioned 
that he was getting a divorce. This same performance 
was repeated the following night. When Pereira said that 
he would like to return to Roswell with the women, Mrs. 
Joyce invited the two men to be her house guests, and 
they accepted. Pereira commenced to make love to Mrs. 
Joyce, and she responded to his attentions. On May 3d, 
Pereira exhibited a telegram to Mrs. Joyce, in the presence 
of Brading and Miss Joyner, stating that his divorce 
would be granted on May 27th, but that he would not 
receive his share of the property settlement, some $48,000, 
for a month.

Brading represented himself as a prosperous oil man, 
dealing in leases, and Pereira as the owner and operator 
of several profitable hotels. Brading then told Mrs. 
Joyce that Pereira was about to lose an opportunity to 
share in the profits of some excellent oil leases because 
of the delay in the divorce property settlement, and 
persuaded her to lend Pereira $5,000.

Pereira suggested that he and Mrs. Joyce take a trip 
together to “become better acquainted.” He borrowed 
$1,000 from her to finance the trip. Brading joined them 
at Wichita Falls, and the three of them continued the 
trip together as far as Dallas. Pereira discussed his 
purported hotel business in Denver during this part of 
the trip. He stated that he was giving two hotels to his 
divorced wife, but intended to re-enter the hotel business 
in the fall. In the meantime, he was going to “play a 
little oil” with Brading. In Hot Springs, Arkansas, 
Pereira proposed marriage and was accepted. Brading 
reappeared on the scene, expressing great joy at the im
pending marriage. Pereira then told Brading, in the 
presence of Mrs. Joyce, that he would have to withdraw 
from further oil deals and get a hotel to assure himself 
of a steady income.
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Pereira and Mrs. Joyce were married May 25, 1951, in 
Kansas City, Missouri. While there, Pereira persuaded 
Mrs. Joyce to procure funds to enable him to complete 
an arrangement to purchase a Cadillac through a friend. 
She secured a check for $6,956.55 from her Los Angeles 
broker, and drawn on a California bank, which she en
dorsed over to Pereira. The price of the car -was $4,750, 
and she instructed Pereira to return the balance of the 
proceeds of the check to her. He kept the change.

From that time on, Pereira and Brading, in the pres
ence of Mrs. Joyce, discussed a hotel which by words and 
conduct they represented that Pereira was to buy in 
Greenville, Texas. They took Mrs. Joyce—by this time 
Mrs. Pereira—to see it, and exhibited an option for its 
purchase for $78,000 through a supposed broker, “E. J. 
Wilson.” Pereira asked his then wife if she would join 
him in the hotel venture and advance $35,000 toward the 
purchase price of $78,000. She agreed. It was then 
agreed, between her and Pereira, that she would sell some 
securities that she possessed in Los Angeles, and bank 
the money in a bank of his choosing in El Paso. On 
June 15, she received the check for $35,000 on the Citizens 
National Bank of Los Angeles from her brokers in Los 
Angeles, and gave it to Pereira, who endorsed it for col
lection to the State National Bank of El Paso. The 
check cleared, and on June 18th, a cashier’s check for 
$35,000 was drawn in favor of Pereira.

At five o’clock in the morning of June 19th, Pereira 
and Brading, after telling their victim that they were 
driving the Cadillac to a neighboring town to sign some 
oil leases, left her at home in Roswell, New Mexico, prom
ising to return by noon. Instead Pereira picked up the 
check for $35,000 at the El Paso Bank, cashed it there, 
and with Brading left with the money and the Cadillac.

That was the last Mrs. Joyce saw of either petitioner, 
or of her money, until the trial some seven months later. 
She divorced Pereira on November 16, 1951.
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The record clearly shows that Brading was not an oil 
man; that Pereira was not a hotel owner; that there was 
no divorce or property settlement pending in Denver; 
that Pereira arranged to have the telegram concerning 
the divorce sent to him by a friend in Denver; that there 
were no oil leases; that the hotel deal was wholly ficti
tious; and that “E. J. Wilson” was the petitioner Brad
ing. The only true statements which the petitioners 
made concerned the purchase of the Cadillac, and they 
took that with them. Pereira and Brading contrived all 
of the papers used to lend an air of authenticity to their 
deals. In short, their activities followed the familiar 
pattern of the “confidence game.”

The petitioners challenge the admissibility of Mrs. 
Joyce’s testimony as being based on confidential com
munications between Mrs. Joyce and Pereira during the 
marriage. Petitioners do not now contend that Mrs. 
Joyce was not a competent witness against her ex- 
husband. They concede that the divorce removed any 
bar of incompetency. That is the generally accepted 
rule. Wigmore, Evidence, §2237; 58 Am. Jur., Wit
nesses, § 204. Petitioners rely on the proposition that 
while divorce removes the bar of incompetency, it does 
not terminate the privilege for confidential martial com
munications. Wigmore, Evidence, § 2341 (2); 58 Am. 
Jur., Witnesses, § 379. This is a correct statement of 
the rule, but it is inapplicable to bar the communications 
involved in this case. A divorced spouse is not precluded 
from offering testimony which would be admissible if 
the marriage relation had continued.

In federal criminal proceedings, the rules of evidence 
are, in the absence of statute or special rule, governed by 
“the principles of the common law as they may be inter
preted by the courts of the United States in the light 
of reason and experience.” Fed. Rules Crim. Proc., 26. 
At common law, an exception to the privilege for con-
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Sciential martist-communications permitted disclosure in 
cases involving physical violence done to one spouse by 
the other. Wigmore, Evidence, §§ 2239, 2338. Although 
it is not clear how far beyond cases of physical violence 
this exception originally extended, we think the better 
view is that it should extend to all criminal actions where 
one spouse is charged with a crime against the person 
or property of the other.

Almost no states bar the revelation of confidential 
martial communications in all cases. See Wigmore, Evi
dence, § 488. The Model Code of Evidence of the Amer
ican Law Institute retains the privilege for confidential 
communications (Rule 215), but provides that it shall 
not apply where one spouse is charged with “a crime 
against the person or property of the other. . . .” (Rule 
216 (c)(i).) Statutes in effect in Illinois and California 
make the same provision. Ill. Rev. Stat., 1949, c. 38, 
§ 734; Deering’s Cal. Code Civ. Proc. Ann., 1949, § 1881; 
Deering’s Cal. Penal Code Ann., 1949, § 1322. Other 
statutes have been interpreted to apply to property 
offenses. E. g., Colo. Stat. Ann. (1935), c. 177, §9; 
Emerick v. People, 110 Colo. 572, 136 P. 2d 668.

The lower federal courts have now unanimously re
moved the bar of incompetency in prosecutions under the 
Mann Act where the wife was the victim of the criminal 
conduct. See Shores v. United States, 174 F. 2d 838. 
And in United States v. Graham, 87 F. Supp. 237, after 
careful consideration of the changed status of women in 
our present society, the underlying basis of the rule, and 
the development of the law in other forums, the court 
felt compelled to hold that a wife was competent to testify 
against her husband, where he was charged with trans
porting in interstate commerce a sum of money taken 
from her by fraud.

Reason dictates that the same factors which demand 
the admission of some testimony from the wife where



the crime is directed against her person or property require ■ 
the admission of all testimony directly connected with 
the criminal acts, even though under other circumstances | 
it might be barred by the privilege for confidential com- 1 
munications. Cf. United States v. Walker, 176 F. 2d 564, L- - 
568; Wigmore, Evidence, The basic reason for the i
privilege is the protection and preservation of domestic 
tranquillity and happiness and of the sanctity of the mar
riage relation. Surely there is no justification for apply
ing that privilege where the spouse claiming its protection 
has preyed on the trust established by the marriage rela
tion to defraud the other. To say that under these cir
cumstances the victim of such fraud cannot testify against 
the defrauding spouse as to all matters connected with 
the crime would be placing a premium on fraud and using | 
the family relationship as a cloak for crime rather than . 
as a shield for the protection of the sacred relationship ' 
between husband and wife. We are not compelled to 
bow to doctrines which other judges in other times and 
under other conditions may have found to be proper i 
policy. Funk v. United States, 290 U. S. 371. In this 
area, the federal courts are committed to reason and expe- • 
rience, and it is in the best tradition of the common law 
that we adapt our rules by those guides, discarding those ; 
which, in the light of our present-day circumstances and ' 
institutions, we find to be neither wise nor just.

It seems clear that in a case of such palpable fraud as | 
this, where the petitioners entered into a conspiracy to 
defraud their victim prior to the marriage, where the 
marriage itself was obviously one of the devices used 
by them to obtain the wife’s money, and where the claimed 
confidential communications referred only to the fictitious 
transactions promoted by the conspirators and jointly pro
posed to the victim by them, that the reason for the 
privilege for confidential marital communications ceases, 
and to apply it here would be a sham and a complete dis
tortion of the principle supporting the rule.
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Even if we did not find Mrs. Joyce's testimony to be 
admissible under the above stated exception, it could not 
be excluded. Under the facts of the case, it cannot be 
said that these communications were confidential. Al
though marital communications are presumed to be con
fidential, that presumption may be overcome by proof 
of facts showing that they were not intended to be private. 
Blau v. United States, 340 U. S. 332; Wolfle v. United 
States, 291 U. S. 7. The presence of a third party nega
tives the presumption of privacy. Wigmore, Evidence, 
§ 2336. So, too, the intention that the information con
veyed be transmitted to a third person. Id., § 2336. The 
privilege, generally, extends only to utterances, and not 
to acts. Id., § 2337. A review of Mrs. Joyce’s testimony 
reveals that it involved primarily statements made in 
the presence of Brading or Miss Joyner, or both, acts of 
Pereira which did not amount to communications, trips 
taken with third parties, and her own acts. Much of her 
testimony related to matters occurring prior to the mar
riage. Any residuum which may have been intended to 
be confidential was so slight as to be immaterial. Cf. 
United States v. Mitchell, 137 F. 2d 1006, 1009.

The court below was not in error in admitting Mrs. 
Joyce’s testimony.

The petitioners challenge their conviction on the sub
stantive counts on the ground that there was no evidence 
of any mailing or of transporting stolen property 
interstate, the gist of the respective offenses. These 
contentions are without merit.

The mail fraud statute provides:
“§ 1341. Frauds and swindles
“Whoever, having devised or intending to devise 

any scheme or artifice to defraud, or for obtaining 
money or property by means of false or fraudulent 
pretenses, representations, or promises, or to sell, 
dispose of, loan, exchange, alter, give away, dis-
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tribute, supply, or furnish or procure for unlawful 
use any counterfeit or spurious coin, obligation, se
curity, or other article, or anything represented to 
be or intimated or held out to be such counterfeit 
or spurious article, for the purpose of executing such 
scheme or artifice or attempting so to do, places in 
any post office or authorized depository for mail 
matter, any matter or thing whatever to be sent or 
delivered by the Post Office Department, or takes 
or receives therefrom, any such matter or thing, or 
knowingly causes to be delivered by mail according 
to the direction thereon, or at the place at which 
it is directed to be delivered by the person to whom 
it is addressed, any such matter or thing, shall be 
fined not more than $1,000 or imprisoned not more 
than five years, or both.” 18 U. S. C. (Supp. V) 
§ 1341.

The National Stolen Property Act provides:
“§ 2314. Transportation of stolen goods, securi

ties. monies, or articles used in counterfeiting
“Whoever transports in interstate or foreign com

merce any goods, wares, merchandise, securities or 
money, of the value of $5,000 or more, knowing the 
same to have been stolen, converted or taken by 
fraud. . . .

“Shall be fined not more than $10,000 or impris
oned not more than ten years, or both. . . .” 18
U. S. C. .(Supp. V) §2314.

To constitute a violation of these provisions, it is not 
necessary to show that petitioners actually mailed or 
transported anything themselves; it is sufficient if they 
caused it to be done. 18 U. S. C. (Supp. V) § 2 (b).

Petitioners do not deny that the proof offered estab
lishes that they planned to defraud Mrs. Joyce. Collect
ing the proceeds of the check was an essential part of 
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that scheme. For this purpose, Pereira delivered the 
check drawn on a Los Angeles bank to the El Paso bank. 
There was substantial evidence to show that the check 
was mailed from Texas to California, in the ordinary 
course of business.

The elements of the offense of mail fraud under 18 
U. S. C. (Supp. V) § 1341 are (1) a scheme to defraud, 
and (2) the mailing of a letter, etc., for the purpose of 
executing the scheme. It is not necessary that the 
scheme contemplate the use of the mails as an essential 
element. United States v. Young, 232 U. S. 155. Here, 
the scheme to defraud is established, and the mailing of 
the check by the bank, incident to an essential part of 
the scheme, is established. There remains only the 
question whether Pereira “caused” the mailing. That 
question is easily answered. Where one does an act with 
knowledge that the use of the mails will follow in the 
ordinary course of business, or where such use can rea
sonably be foreseen, even though not actually intended, 
then he “causes” the mails to be used. United States v. 
Kenojskey, 243 U. S. 440. The conclusion that Pereira’s 
conviction under this count was proper follows naturally 
from these factors.

As to the charge of causing stolen property to be trans
ported in interstate commerce, the validity of Pereira’s 
conviction is even more apparent. Sections 1341 and 
2314 of Title 18 constitute two separate offenses, and a 
defendant may be convicted of both even though the 
charges arise from a single act or series of acts, so long as 
each requires the proof of a fact not essential to the other. 
Gavieres v. United States, 220 U. S. 338; Blockburger v. 
United States, 284 U. S. 299. 18 U. S. C. (Supp. V) 
§ 2314 requires (1) knowledge that certain property has 
been stolen or obtained by fraud, and (2) transporting it, 
or causing it to be transported in interstate commerce. 
It is obvious that the mail fraud offense requires different
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proof. The transporting charge does not require proof 
that any specific means of transporting were used, or that 
the acts were done pursuant to a scheme to defraud, as 
is required for the mail fraud charge. United States v. 
Sheridan, 329 U. S. 379- When Pereira delivered the 
check, drawn on an out-of-state bank, to the El Paso bank 
for collection, he “caused” it to be transported in inter
state commerce. It is common knowledge that such 
checks must be sent to the drawee bank for collection, 
and it follows that Pereira intended the El Paso bank to 
send this check across state lines. United States v. Sheri
dan, supra, at 391. The trial court charged the jury that 
one who “aids, abets, counsels, commands, induces, or 
procures” the commission of an act is as responsible for 
that act as if he had directly committed the act himself. 
See 18 U. S. C. (Supp. V) § 2 (a). Nye & Nissen v. 
United States, 336 U. S. 613. The jury found Brading 
guilty in the light of this instruction. The Court of Ap
peals affirmed on the ground that the evidence supported 
conviction under this charge.*

The evidence is clear and convincing that Brading was 
a participant in the fraud from beginning to end. Brad
ing made the initial contact with the victim. He per
suaded her to part with $5,000, as a loan to Pereira for 
investment in some nonexistent oil leases. He was pres
ent and participated in conversations about buying the 
hotel lease. He engaged a telephone answering service 
under the name of “E. J. Wilson,” the name of Pereira’s

♦The Government argues that Brading’s conviction on the sub
stantive offenses can be affirmed on the basis of Pinkerton v. United 
States, 328 U. S. 640, since the record demonstrates that he con
spired to defraud Mrs. Joyce and the acts charged in the substan
tive offenses were acts in furtherance of that design. The Pinkerton 
case, however, is inapplicable here since the jury was not instnicted 
in terms of that theory. Nye & Nissen v. United States, 336 U. S. 
613.



purported broker. The evidence established that he sent 
a telegram to Pereira authorizing an extension of the sup
posed option to purchase the hotel, signing it “E. J. Wil
son.” He suppled the false excuse for Pereira’s depar
ture from the victim, and went with Pereira to collect 
the proceeds of the check. He and Pereira fled together 
with the money.

The “aiding and abetting” instruction entitled the jury 
to draw inferences supplying any lack of evidence directly 
connecting the petitioner Brading with the specific acts 
charged in the indictment from the abundant circum
stantial evidence offered. The jury was properly charged 
on this theory. There is ample evidence of the petition
ers’ collaboration and close cooperation in the fraud from 
which the jury could conclude that Brading aided, 
abetted, or counseled Pereira in the commission of the 
specific acts charged. See Nye & Nissen v. United States, 
supra, at 619. The Court of Appeals has passed on the 
sufficiency of the evidence to sustain Brading’s convic- 

' tion on this theory. We see no reason to upset the find
ings of the courts below.

The petitioners allege that their conviction on both 
the substantive counts and a conspiracy to commit the 
crimes charged in the substantive counts, constitutes 
double jeopardy. It is settled law in this country that 

t the commission of a substantive offense and a conspiracy
to commit it are separate and distinct crimes, and a plea 
of double jeopardy is no defense to a conviction for both. 
See Pinkerton v. United States, 328 U. S. 640, 643-644, 
and cases cited therein. Only if the substantive offense 
and the conspiracy are identical does a conviction for 
both constitute double jeopardy. Cf. G/avieres v. United 
States, 220 U. S. 338. The substantive offenses with 
which petitioners were charged do not require more 
than one person for their commission; either could be 
accomplished by a single individual. The essence of the 
conspiracy charge is an agreement to use the mails to
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defraud and/or to transport in interstate commerce prop
erty known to have been obtained by fraud. Pereira’s 
conviction on the substantive counts does not depend on 
any agreement, he being the principal actor. Similarly, 
Brading’s conviction does not turn on the agreement. 
Aiding, abetting, and counseling are not terms which pre
suppose the existence of an agreement. Those terms 
have a broader application, making the defendant a prin
cipal when he consciously shares in a criminal act, re
gardless of the existence of a conspiracy. Nye & Nissen 
v. United States, supra, at 620. Thus, the charge of con
spiracy requires proof not essential to the convictions on 
the substantive offenses—proof of an agreement to com
mit an offense against the United States—and it cannot 
be said that the substantive offenses and the conspiracy 
are identical, any more than the two substantive offenses 
are identical.

Petitioners further contend that there was no evidence 
that they agreed to use the mails in furtherance of the 
scheme to defraud Mrs. Joyce or that they agreed to trans
port stolen property in interstate commerce. It is not 
necessary that an agreement to use the mails or transport 
stolen property exist from the inception of the scheme to 
defraud. If there was such an agreement at any time, 
it is sufficient. The existence of a conspiracy to defraud 
Mrs. Joyce is not denied. Pereira obtained a check from 
the victim for the purchase of an automobile. That check 
was drawn on a Los Angeles bank by Mrs. Joyce’s brokers. 
When the subject of purchasing the hotel was broached, 
Mrs. Joyce told Pereira that she would have to have her 
California broker sell some stocks to obtain the funds for 
the purchase. When there was a delay in contacting the 
broker, Brading, as “E. J. Wilson,” sent a telegram extend
ing the spurious option for the purchase of the hotel. 
There is no doubt about Pereira’s knowledge that a check 
on an out-of-state bank would be involved. From what 
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we have said with regard to the substantive offenses, it 
is also clear that an intent to collect on the check would 
include an intent to use the mails or to transport the 
check in interstate commerce. It was certainly not im
proper to allow the jury to determine from the circum
stances whether Brading shared Pereira’s knowledge and 
agreed with him as to the use of the only appropriate 
means of collecting the money. It would be unreason
able to suppose that Brading would be so closely associ
ated with Pereira in the scheme to defraud without know
ing the details related to the realization of their common 
goal. There is no reason for this Court to upset the jury’s 
finding of conspiracy.

For the foregoing reasons, the judgment below is
Affirmed.

Mr. Justice Reed took no part in the consideration or 
decision of this case.
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District Court for the Western District of Texas under three 
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On April 19, 1951, Mrs. Gertrude Joyce, a wealthy widow,

about to enter a hotel in El Paso, Texas. Mrs. Joyce and her



•ister had just arrived from their home in Roswell, New Mexico, 

and were preparing to register at the hotel. Brading identified 

himself, assisted them in parking their car, and invited them 

into the hotel bar to meet a friend of his. They accepted. 

The friend was petitioner Pereira, thirty-three years of age. 

After a few drinks, the men suggested that they all go to

Juarez for dinner. The women accepted, and^after dinner visited 

some night clubs with the petitioners. Pereira devoted himself 

to Mrs. Joyce, telling her that their meeting was an "epoch" in 

his life. He mentioned that he was getting a divorce. This 

same performance was repeated the following night. When Pereira 

said that he would like to return to Roswell with the women, 

Mrs. Joyce invited the two men to be her house guests, and they 

accepted. Pereira commenced to make love to Mrs. Joyce, and 

she responded to his attentions. On May 3^d, Pereira exhibited 

a telegram to Mrs. Joyce, in the presence of Brading and Miss 

Joyner, stating that his divorce would be granted on May 27th, 

but that he would not receive his share of the property settle

ment, some $U8,OOO, for a month,



Brading represented himself as a prosperous oil man, dealing 

in leases, and Pereira as the owner and operator of several 

profitable hotels. Brading then told Mrs. Joyce that Pereira 

was about to lose an opportunity to share in the profits of some 

excellent oil leases because of the delay in the divorce property 

settlement, and persuaded her to lend Pereira $5,000.

Pereira suggested that he and Mrs. Joyce take a trip together

borrobjed
to "become better acquainted". He obtained $1,000 from her to 

finance the trip. Brading Joined them at Wichita Falls, and 

the three of them continued the trip together as far as Dallas, 

Pereira discussed his purported hotel business in Denverf 

during this part of the trip. He stated that he was giving two 

hotels to his divorced wife, but intended to re-enter the hotel 

business in the fall. In the meantime, he was going to "play a 

little oil" with Brading. In Hot Springs, Arknsas, Pereira 

proposed marriage and was accepted. Brading on the

scene, expressing great Joy at the impending marriage. Pereira 

then told Brading, in the presence of Mrs. Joyce, that he would 

have to withdraw from further oil deals and get a hotel to 

assure himself of a steady income
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Pereira and Mrs. Joyoe wore married May 25, 1951, in Kansas

City, Missouri, While there, Pereira persuaded Mrs. Joyoe to 

procure funds to enable him to complete an arrangement to purchase 

a Cadillac through a friend. She secured a check far $6,956.55 

from her Los Angeles broker, and drawn on a California bank, which 

she endorsed over to Pereira. The price of the car was $h,75O, *nd 

she instructed Pereira to return the balance of the proceeds of 

the check to her. He kept the change.

Frcm that time on, Pereira and Brading, in the presence of

Mrs. Joyce, discussed a hotel whichfthey represented that Pereira
r

was to buy in Greenville, Texas. They took Mrs. Joyce—by this 

time Mrs. Pereira—to see it, and exhibited an option for its 

purchase far $78,000 through a supposed broker, "E. J. Wilson.” 

Pereira asked his then wife if she would Join him in the hotel 

venture and advance $35,000 toward the purchase price of $78,000. 

She agreed. It was then agreed, between her and Pereira, that 

she would sell some securities that she possessed in Los 

Angelos, and bank the money in a bank of his choosing in El Paso. 

On June 15, she received the chock for $35,000 on the Citizens

National Bank of Los Angeles from her brokers in Los Angoles, and 
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gave it to Pereira, who endorsed it for collection to the State

National B«nk of KI Paso. The check cleared, and on June 18th, 

a cashier's check for 135,000 was drawn in favor of Pereira,

At five o’clock in the morning of June 19th, Pereira and

Brading, after telling their victim that they were driving the

Cadillac to a neighboring town to sign some oil leases, left her

at home in Roswell, New Mexico, promising to return by noon.

LX Instead

El Paso

Pereira picked up the check for $35,OOOr-ewrtHBES!k at the 
(j2aske.c£ if

BankZand with Brading left with the money and the Cadillao, 
A

That was the last Mrs. Joyce saw of either petitioner, or 

of her money, until the trial sane seven months later. She 

divorced Pereira on November 16, 1951.

The record clearly shows that Brading was not an oil man; that

Pereira was not a hotel owner; that there was no divorce or property

\Z

settlement pending in Denver; that Pereira arranged to have the 

telegram concerning the divorce sent^by a friend in Denver; that 

there were no oil leases; that the hotel deal was wholly fictitious;

and that "X. J. Wilson" was the petitioner Brading. The only 

true statements which the petitioners made concerned the purchase 



of the Cadillac, and they took that with them* Pereira and 

Brading contrived all of the papers used to lend an air of 

authenticity to their deale. In short, their activities 

followed the familiar pattern of the "confidence game."
t
Is

The petitioners challenge the admissibility of Mrs. Joyce’s 

testimony as being based on confidential communications between 

Mrs, Joyce and Pereira during the marriage. Petitioners do 

not now contend that Mrs. Joyce was not a competent witness 

against her ex-husband. They concede' that the divorce removed 

any bar of incompetency. That is the generally accepted rule. 

Wigmore, Evidence, § 2237; 58 Am. Jur. , Witnesses, § 20Li. 

Petitioners rely on the proposition that while divorce removes 

the bar of incompetency, it does not terminate the privilege 

for confidential marital communications. Wigmore, Evidence, 

§ 23hl(2)j 58 Am, Jur., Witnesses, § 379* This is a correct 

statement of the rule, but it is inapplicable to bar the corm

muni cations involved in this case. A divorced spouse is not 

precluded from offering testimony which would be admissible

if the marriage relation had continued.



in the absence of statute or special rule, governed by "the

principles of the common law as they may be interpreted by the 

courts of the United States in the light of reason and exper

ience." Fed. Rules Crim. Proc,, 26, At ccmmon law, an 

exception to the privilege for confidential marital canmunica

tions permitted disclosure in cases involving physical violence 

done to one spouse by the other, Wigmore, Evidence, §§ 2239, 

2338. Although it is not clear how far beyond cases of physical 

violence this exception originally extended, we think the better 

view is that it should extend to all criminal actions where one 

spouse is charged with a crime against the person or property 

of the other.

Almost no states bar the revelation of confidential marital 

communications in all cases. See Wigmore, Evidence, § U88. . 

The Model Code of Evidence of the American Law Institute retains 

the privilege for confidential communications (Rule 215), but 

provides that it shall not apply where one spouse is charged 

with "a crime against the person or property of the other...." 

(Rule 216(c)(1)). Statutes in effect in Illinois and Calif amia
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make the same provision. Hl. Rev. Stat., 19h9, 0. 38, § 73Uj

De©ring*s Cal. Code Civ. Proc.

Cal, Penal Code Ann., 19h9, § 1322, Other statutes have been 

interpreted to apply to property offenses, E.g., Colo. Stat,

Ann, (1935), c. 177, § 9j Emerich v. People, 110 Colo, 572, 

136 P. 2d 668.

The lower federal courts have now unanimously removed the 

bar of incanpetency in prosecutions under the Mann Act where the 

wife was the victim of the criminal conduct. See Shores v. 

United States, 17U F. 2d 838. And in United States v. Graham, 

87 F. Supp. 237, after careful consideration of the changed 

status of women in our present society, the underlying basis of 

the rule, and the development of the law in other forums, the 

court felt compelled to hold that a wife was competent to testify 

against her husband, where he was charged with transporting in 

interstate commerce a sum of money taken from her by fraud.

Reason dictates that the same factors which demand the 

admission of some testimony from the wife where the crime is 

directed against her person or property require the admission 

of all testimony directly connected with the criminal acts, 
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even though under other circumstances it might be barred by the 

privilege for confidential communications, Cf, United States v. 

Walker, 176 F. 2d £6h, 568j Wigmore, Evidence, § 2338, The basic 

reason for the privilege is the protection and preservation of 

domestic tranquillity and happiness and of the sanctity of the 

marriage relation. Surely there is no justification for applying 

that privilege where the spouse claiming its protection has preyed 

on the trust established by the marriage relation to defraud the 

other. To say that under these circumstances the victim of such 

fraud cannot testify against the defrauding spouse as to all 

matters connected with the crim^^ould be placing a premium on 

fraud and using the family relationship as a cloak for crime 

rather than as a shield for the protection of the sacred relation

ship between husband and wife. We are not compelled to bow to 

doctrines which other judges in other times and under other con

ditions may have found to be proper policy. Funk v. United 

States, 290 U.S, 371, In this area, the federal courts are com- 

mitted to reason and experience, and it is in the best tradition 

of the common law that we adapt our rules by those guides, 

discarding those which, in the light of our present-day circum-
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stances and institutions, we find to be neither wise nor Just.

It seems clear that in a case of such palpable fraud as 

this, where the petitioners entered into a conspiracy to defraud 

their victim prior to the marriage, where the marriage itself 

was obviously one of the devices used by them to obtain the 

wife's money, and where the claimed confidential communications 

referred only to the fictitious transactions promoted by the 

conspirators and jointly proposed to the victim by them, that 

the reason for the privilege for confidential marital communica

tions ceases, and to apply it here would be a sham and a complete

primal pie.
distortion of the prinafcyl supporting the rule.

Even if we did not find Mrs. Joyce'3 testimony to be admissible 

under the above stated exception, it could not be excluded.

Under the facts of the case, it cannot be said that these communi

cations were confidential. Although marital communications are 

presumed to be confidential, that presumption may be overcome by 

proof of facts showing that they were not intended to be private. 

Blau v. United States, 3U0 U.S, 332 J Wolfle v. United States,

291 U.S. 7. The presence of a third party negatives the presump

tion of privacy. Wigmore, Evidence, § 2336. So, too, the 
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intention that the iiformation conveyed be transmitted to a third 

person. Id., § 2336. The privilege, generally, extends only to 

utterances, and not to acts. Id., § 2337* A review of Mrs, 

Joyce *3 testimony reveals that it involved primarily statements 

made in the presence of Brading or Miss Joiner, or both, acts of 

Pereira which did not amount to communications, trips taken with 

third parties, and her own acts. Much of her testimony related 

to matters occurring prior to the marriage. Any residuum which 

may have been intended to be confidential was so slight as to be 

immaterial. Cf• United States v, Mitchell, 137 F. 2d 1006, 1009.

The court below was not in error in admitting Mrs. Joyce’s 

testimony.

The petitioners challenge their conviction on the substantive 

counts on the ground that there was no evidence^of any mailing 

or of transporting stolen property interstate, the gist of the 

respective offenses. These contentions are without merit.

<2/The mail fraud statute provides:

13U1* Frauds and swindles

"Whoever, having devised or intending to devise 
any scheme or artifice to defraud, or for obtaining



money or property by means of false or fraudulent 
pretenses, representations, or promises, or to 
sell, dispose of, loan, exchange, alter, give away, 
distribute, supply, or furnish or procure for unlaw
ful use any counterfeit or spurious coin, obligation, 
security, or other article, or anything represented 
to be or intimated or held out to be such counterfeit 
or spurious article, for the purpose of executing 
such scheme or artifice or attempting so to do, 
places in any post office or authorized depository 
for mail matter, any matter or thing whatever to be 
sent or delivered by the Post Office Department, or 
takes or receives threfrom, any Buch matter or thing, 
or knowingly causes to be delivered by mail according 
to the direction thereon, or at the place at which 
it is directed to be delivered by the person to whom 
it is addressed, any such matter or thing, shall be 
fined not more than $1,000 or imprisoned not more 
than five years, or both.” 18 U.S.C. (Supp. V) § 1?U1.

National Stolen Property Act provides:

23111. Transportation of stolen goods, securities, 
monies, or articles U3ed in counterfeiting

"Whoever transports in interstate or foreign 
commerce any goods, wares, merchandise, securities 
or money, of the value of $5,000 or more, knowing 
the same to have been stolen, converted or taken 
by fraud...*

"Shall be fined not more than $10,000 or imprisoned 
not more than ten years, or both...." 18 U«S.C. (Supp. V)
§ 231U.

To constitute a violation of these provisions, it is not neces

sarv to show that petitioners actually mailed or transported

anything themselves; it is sufficient if they caused it to be

done. 18 U.S.C. (Supp. V) § 2(b).

Petitioners do not deny that the proof offered establishes

that they planned to defraud Mrs. Joyce. Collecting the proceeds 

of the check was an essential part of that scheme. For this 
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purpose, Pereira delivered the check drawn on a Los. Angeles 

bank to the El Paso bank,, Ihere was substantial evidence to show 

that the check was mailed from Texas to California, in the 

ordinary course of business.

The elements of the offense of mail fraud under 18 U.S.C. 

(Supp. V) § 13hl are (1) a scheme to defraud, and (2) the mail

ing of a letter, etc., for the purpose of executing the scheme. 

It is not necessary that the scheme contemplate the use of the 

mails as an essential element. United States v. Young, 232 U.S. 

155. Here, the scheme to defraud is established, and the mail

ing of the check by the bank, incident to an essential part of 

the scheme, is established. There remains only the question 

whether Pereira ’’caused” the mailing. That question is easily 

answered^ Were one doe3 an act with knowledge that the use of 

the mails will follow in the ordinary course of business, or 

where such use can reasonably be foreseen, even though not 

actually intended, then he "causes” the mails to be used. * 

United States v. Kenofskey, 2li3 U.S. UhO. The conclusion that 

Pereira’s conviction under this count was proper follows 

naturally from these factors,



As to the charge of causing stolen property to be transported 

in interstate commerce, the validity of Pereira’s conviction is 

even more apparent. Sections 13U1 and 231h of Title 18 constitute 

two separate offenses, and a defendant may be convicted of both 

even though the charges arise from a single act or series of 

acts, so long as each requires the proof of a fact not essential 

to the other. Gavieres v. United States, 220 U.S. 338) 

Blockburger v. United States, 28U U.S. 2??. 18 U.S.C. (Supp. V)

§ 231U requires (1) knowledge that certain property has been • 

stolen or obtained by fraud, and (2) transporting it, or causing 

it to be transported in interstate commerce. It is obvious that 

the mail fraud offense requires different proof. The transporting 

charge does not require proof that any specific means of trans

porting were used, or that the acts were done pursuant to a
<3 j* /j re.? of reef /or

scheme to defraud^ United States v. Sheridan, 3?9 U.S. 379» . 

When Pereira delivered the check, drawn on an outrof—state bank, 

to the El Paso bank far collection, he "caused” it to be trans

ported in interstate commerce. It is common knowledge that such 

checks must be sent to the drawee bank for collection, and it
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follows that Pereira intended the El Paso bank to send this

check across state lines. United States v. Sheridan, supra, at

391. The trial court charged the jury that one who "aids, abets, 

counsels, cowmands, induces, or procures" the commission of an 

act is as responsible for that act as if he had directly com

mitted the act himself. See 1B U.S.C. (Supp. V) § 2(a). Nye &

Nissen ▼. United States, 336 U.S. 613. The jury found Brading 

guilty in the light of this instruction. The Court of Appeals 

affirmed on the ground that the evidence supported conviction

1/
under this charge.

fly' The Government argues lEBBi that Brading1 ■ conviction on the 

substantive offenses can be affirmed on the basis of Pinkerton v. 

United States, 328 U.S. 61|0, since the record demonstrates that 

he conspired to defraud Mrs. Joyce and the acts charged in the 

substantive offenses were acts in furtherance of that design.

The Pinkerton case, however, is inapplicable here since the jury 

was not instructed in terms of that theory. & Nissen v.

United States, 336 U.S. 613.



Ths evidence is clear and convincing that Brading was a parti< 

cipant in the fraud from beginning to end* Brading made the initial 

contact with the victim* He persuaded her to part with $$,000, aa 

a loan to Persira for investment in some non-existent oil leases* 

He was present and participated in conversations about buying the 

hotel lease. He engaged a telephone answering service under the 

name of "8. J* Wilson**, the name of Pereira's purported broker* 

The evidence established that he sent a telegram to Pereira author

izing an extension of the supposed option to purchase the hotel, 

signing it "E, J* Wilson,” He suppled the false excuse for Pereira's 

departure from the victim, and went with Pereira to collect the 

proceeds of the check. He and Pereira fled together with the money.

The "aiding and abetting” instruction entitled the jury to 

draw inferences supplying any lack-of evidence directly connect

ing the petitioner Brading with the specific acts charged in the 

indictment from the abundant circumstantial evidence offered. The 

Jury was properly charged on this theory. There is ample evidence 

of the petitioners' collaboration and close cooperation In the fraud 

from which the Jury could conclude that Brading aided, abetted, 

or counseled Pereira in the commission of the specific acts charged.



See Hye A Ilssen United States, supra, at 619* The Court of 

Appeals has passed on the sufficiency of the evidence to sustain 

Brading*s conviction on this theory. Wa see no reason to upsat 

the findings of the courts below.

The petitioners allege that their conviction on both the sub

stantive counts and a conspiracy to commit the crimes charged in 

the substantive counts, constitutes doable jeopardy. It is settled 

law in this country that the commission of a substantive offense 

and a conspiracy to commit it are separate and distinct orines, 

and a plea of double jeopardy is no defense to a conviction for both 

See ?inkerton v. United States, 328 U.S. 6h0, 6i*3-h, and oases cited 

therein. Only if the substantive offense and the conspiracy are 

Identical does a conviction for both constitute double jeopardy. 

Cf. (^avierea v. United States, 220 U.S. 338. The substantive 

offenses with which petitioners were charged do not require more 

than one person for their commission; either could be accomplished 

by a single individual. The essence of the conspiracy charge is an 

agreement to use the mails to defraud and/or to transport in inter

state oonnerce property known to have been obtained by fraud. 

Pereira*s conviction on the substantive counts does not depend 

on any agreement, he being the principal
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actor. Similarly, Brading’s conviction does not turn on the

agreement. Aiding, abetting, and counseling-;, are not terms which 

presuppose the existence of an agreement. Those terms have a 

broader application, making the defendant a principal when he

consciously shares in a criminal act, regardlesscf the existence 

i Supra, dtj

to the convictions on the substantive offenses—proof of an 

agreement to commit an offense against the United States-—and 

it cannot be said that the substantive offenses and the conspiracy 

are identical, an^nore than the two substantive offenses are

Petitioners further contend that there was no evidence that 

they agreed to use the mails in furtherance of the scheme to 

defraud Mrs. Joyce or that they agreed to transport stolen 

property in interstate commerce. It is not necessary that an 

agreement to use the mails or transport stolen property exist 

from the inception of the scheme to defraud. If there was such 

an agreement at any time, it is sufficient. The existence of a 

conspiracy to defraud Mrs. Joyce is not denied. Pereira obtained



a check from the victim for the purchase of an automobile# That 

check was drawn on a Los Angeles bank by Mrs. Joyce’s brokers. 

When the subject of purchasing the hotel was broached, Mrs. 

Joyce told Pereira that she would have to have her California 

broker sell some stocks to obtain the funds for the purchase. 

When there was a delay in contacting the broker, Brading, as 

”E. J. Wilson”, sent a telegram extending the^optlon for the 

purchase of the hotel. There is no doubt about Pereira’s 

knowledge that a check on an out-of-state bank wodd be involved. 

From what we have said with regard to the substantive offenses, 

it is also clear that an intent to collect on the check would 

include an intent to use the mails or to transport the check in 

interstate ccnmerce. It was certainly not improper to allow the 

Jury to determine from the circumstances whether Brading shared 

Pereira’s knowledge and agreed with him as to the use of the 

only appropriate medns of collecting the money. It would be 

unreasonable to suppose that Brading would be so closely 

associated with Pereira in the scheme to defraud without knowing 

the details related to the realization of their^goal, There is



Mr. Justice Reed took no part in the consideration or deci don
■ ■ ■ ■ ,i-

of this case
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Mr. Chief Justice Warren delivered the opinion of 
the Court.

The petitioners, Pereira and Brading, were convicted 
in the District Court for the Western District of Texas 
under three counts of an indictment charging violation 
of the mail fraud statute, 18 U. S. C. (Supp. V) § 1341, 
violation of the National Stolen Property Act, 18 U. S. C. 
(Supp. V) § 2314, and a conspiracy to commit the afore
said substantive offenses, 18 U. S. C. (Supp. V) § 371. 
The Court of Appeals for the Fifth Circuit affirmed. 202 
F. 2d 830. This Court granted certiorari to consider ques
tions which are important to the proper administration of 
criminal justice in the federal courts. 345 U. S. 990.

On April 19, 1951, Mrs. Gertrude Joyce, a wealthy 
widow, fifty-six years old, and her younger half-sister, 
Miss Katherine Joyner, were accosted by the petitioner 
Brading as they were about to enter a hotel in El Paso, 
Texas. Mrs. Joyce and her sister had just arrived from 
their home in Roswell, New Mexico, and were preparing 
to register at the hotel. Brading identified himself, as
sisted them in parking their car, and invited them into 
the hotel bar to meet a friend of his. They accepted. 
The friend was petitioner Pereira, thirty-three years of 
age. After a few drinks, the men suggested that they 
all go to Juarez for dinner. The women accepted, and
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Dear Chief:

On further reflection I ought to express to you doubt I withheld in returning 

your opinion in No. 50.

The doubt concerns the desirability of enunciating, in this case, the breadth 

of the rule laid down by you. I am not prepared to disagree on the merits with what 

you say. Inasmuch, however, as the contested evidence was in any event admissible 

here, would it not be better to postpone dealing with the first part of your discuc- 

sion until it becomes necessary.

Since I was not prepared to disagree with your views on the merits I supprer ed 

my doubt. 9ut on further thought I am led to put it to you.particularly in view of 

the decision the other day of the Court of Criminal Appeals in Regina v. Alrar. which 

I ?jn sending along with this note.

You will notice that in the Algar c:.se the Director of Public.Pro-ecuticns is 

applying to the Attorney General for his certificate for leave to appeal to the House 

of Lords. That certificate is a prerequisite to en appeal to the Lords, ^ince its 

establishment forty-six years ago, ver;', very few c: see have gone beyond the Court 

of Criminal Appeal; I should be surprised if as many as a do.cen, so authpritwtive are 

the decisions of the Court of Appeals. While, of course, we ou ht not to be guided 

on matters of evidence either by the Court of Criminal Appeals or the House of Lords, 

their rulings on evidence are relevant because they bear on our determinations of 

what are to Ise deemed "the principles of the common law * * * interpreted * * * in the 

light of reason and experience."

Faithfully yours,

The Chief Justice
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